# EFFECT OF FERMENTATION TIME ON THE PERFORMANCE OF BROILER CHICKENS FED DIETS CONTAINING FERMENTED POULTRY DROPPINGS UNDER SINGLE PHASE FEEDING

 $\mathbf{BY}$ 

RIMBUT, Naldeya Napko MTech/SAAT/2019/9400

DEPARTMENT OF ANIMAL PRODUCTION FEDERAL UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY MINNA

# EFFECT OF FERMENTATION TIME ON THE PERFORMANCE OF BROILER CHICKENS FED DIETS CONTAINING FERMENTED POULTRY DROPPINGS UNDER SINGLE PHASE FEEDING

 $\mathbf{BY}$ 

RIMBUT, Naldeya Napko MTech/SAAT/2019/9400

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE POSTGRADUATE SCHOOL FEDERAL UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY, MINNA, NIGERIA IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AWARD OF THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF TECHNOLOGY IN ANIMAL PRODUCTION

**NOVEMBER, 2023** 

#### **ABSTRACT**

An experiment was conducted to investigate the effect of fermentation time on the performance of broiler chickens fed diets containing varying levels of fermented poultry droppings under single phase feeding. A total of 150 broiler chickens were used in this experiment. The birds were randomly allotted to five dietary treatments of three replicates with ten birds per replicate, in a completely randomized design. The experimental diets were designated as T1, T2, T3, T4 and T5; T1 served as the control, while T2, T3, T4, and T5 were treatment groups wih poultry droppings fermented for 24, 48, 72, and 96 hours respectively. Feed and water were supplied ad libitum throughout the period of the experiment which lasted for eight weeks. Data were collected on initial body weight, feed intake, final body weight, apparent nutrient digestibility, carcass characteristics, organoleptic properties and economy of feed conversion. Results showed that there was a significant difference (P<0.05) in the feed intake amongst the treatments with T3 having the highest feed intake (3943.97g), however, the lowest feed intake was recorded in T1 with 3111.63g. There was a significant difference (P<0.05) in final body weight with T5 recording the highest (1697.10g), while the lowest was recorded in T1 (1564.70g). There were no significant differences (P>0.05) among the parameters measured in apparent nutrient digestibility; rather a significant difference (P<0.05) was recorded for ether extract digestibility with T5 having the highest percentage (93.91%) while the lowest value was recorded in T1 with 89.16%. Significant differences (P<0.05) were observed in live weight, slaughtered weight, de-feathered weight, dressing weight and dressing percentage, nevertheless, the results of the carcass characteristics indicated that the fermented poultry droppings diets had no significant effect (P>0.05) on some cut up parts like back weight, breast, thigh, drumstick and wing. The results of the internal organs revealed no significant differences (P>0.05) among all the parameters measured. Similarly, the results of the organoleptic properties indicated no significant difference (P>0.05) in most of the parameters, However, significant differences (P<0.05) were observed in juiciness, aroma and overall acceptability. The economy of feed conversion revealed that broiler birds fed the control diet had the highest feed cost per kilogram, (₹290.21) with the corresponding highest feed cost per weight gain (₹578.22). Similarly, the lowest feed cost per weight gain was recorded in T5 with №526.37 respectively. From this study, it was concluded that different time fermented poultry droppings could be used up to 5% inclusion as a substitution for conventional protein feeding stuff in broiler chickens without any adverse effect on growth performance irrespective of the fermentation period adopted.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

CON	NTENT	PAGE
Cove	er Page	
Title	Page	i
Decl	aration	ii
Certi	fication	iii
Dedi	cation	iv
Acknowledgements		v
Abstract		vi
Table of Contents		vii
List of Tables		xii
CHAPTER ONE		1
1.0	INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	Background to the Study	1
1.2	Statement of the Research Problem	2
1.3	Justification for the Study	3
1.4	Aims and Objective of the Study	4
CHA	APTER TWO	5
2.0	LITERATURE REVIEW	5
2.1	Animal Protein	5
2.2	High Cost of Animal Feed	7
2.3	Protein Requirement of Livestock	7
2.4	Poultry Manure as Animal Feed	8
2.5	Poultry Manure	10

2.6	Features of Poultry Droppings	10
2.7	Types of Poultry Manure	10
2.7.1	Deep litter poultry manure	11
2.7.2	Cage manure	11
2.7.3	Deep pit or high-rise manure	11
2.8	Nutrient Content in Poultry Manure	12
2.9	Nitrogen Content of Poultry Manure	12
2.10	Microbial Composition in Poultry Manure	13
2.11	Reuse of Poultry Waste	13
2.12	Poultry Dropping used as Ruminant Feed	15
2.13	Uses of Poultry Droppings to Non-Ruminant Animals (Poultry)	15
2.14	Uses of Poultry Manure to Crops	16
2.15	Poultry Droppings as Feed for Fishes	16
2.16	Poultry Waste as a Source of Protein	17
2.17	Fermentation	18
2.17.1	Anaerobic fermentation	19
2.18	Nutrient Requirement of Broiler Chickens	20
2.18.1	Energy requirement of broiler chickens	21
2.18.2	Protein requirement of broiler chickens	21
2.18.3	Fats requirement of broiler chickens	22
2.18.4	Minerals requirement of broiler chickens	22
2.18.5	Vitamin requirement of broiler chickens	22
2.18.6	Water requirement of broiler chickens	23
2.16.7	Meat quality characteristics	23

2.18.7	The economy of feed conversion in broiler chickens	24
СНАР	TER THREE	25
3.0	MATERIALS AND METHODS	25
3.1	Experimental Site	25
3.2	Collection and Preparation of Sample	25
3.2.1	Preparation of supernatant decanted solution.	25
3.2.2	Determination of pH	25
3.2.3	Preparation of fermented poultry droppings	26
3.3	Laboratory Analysis of Fermented Poultry Droppings	26
3.4	Experimental Design	27
3.5	Experimental Diets	27
3.6	Experimental Birds and their Management	27
3.7	Data Collection	29
3.7.1	Growth parameters	29
3.7.2	Apparent nutrient digestibility trial	29
3.7.3	Carcass characteristics	30
3.7.3.1	Meat quality characteristics	30
3.7.3.2	pH	30
3.7.3.3	Hot carcass yield weight (HCW)	31
3.7.3.4	Sensory properties of meat	31
3.7.4	Economic analysis of feeding fermented poultry dropping to broiler chickens	32
3.8	Data Analysis	32
CHAPTER FOUR		33
4.0	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	33

4.1	Results	33
4.1.1	Proximate composition of differently processed poultry droppings	33
4.1.2	Microbial load of fermented poultry droppings	33
4.1.3	Minerals and vitamin contents of fermented poultry droppings	36
4.1.4	Proximate composition of experimental diets	36
4.1.5	Growth performance of broiler chickens fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings	39
4.1.6	Nutrient digestibility of diets containing fermented poultry droppings fed to broiler chickens	41
4.1.7	Carcass characteristics of broiler chickens fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings	41
4.1.8	Internal organs of broiler birds fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings	42
4.1.9	Organoleptic properties of broiler chickens fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings	42
4.1.10	Economics of broiler chickens fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings	43
4.2	Discussion	49
4.2.1	Proximate composition of fermented poultry droppings	49
4.2.2	Proximate composition of the experimental diets	49
4.2.3	Microbial loads	50
4.2.4	Growth performance of broiler chickens fed fermented poultry droppings	50
4.2.5	Apparent nutrient digestibility of broiler birds fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings	52
4.2.6	Carcass characteristics of broiler birds fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings	52
4.2.7	Organoleptic properties of broiler birds fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings	53
4.2.8	Economics of broiler chickens fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings	54

CHAPTER FIVE		55
5.0	CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	55
5.1	Conclusion	55
5.2	Recommendations	55
5.3	Contribution to Knowledge	56
REFERENCES		57
APPENDICES		69

## LIST OF TABLES

<b>TABLE</b> 3.1	Gross Composition of the Experimental Diets and Calculated Nutrients	PAGE 28
4.1	Proximate Composition and Calculated Energy Value of Differently Processed Poultry Droppings	34
4.2	Microbial Level of the Various Fermented Poultry Droppings	35
4.3	Minerals and Vitamin Content of Fermented Poultry Droppings in $mg/100g$	37
4.4	Proximate Composition and Calculated Energy Values of the Experimental Diets	38
4.5	Growth Performance of Broiler Chickens Fed Diets Containing Fermented Poultry Droppings	40
4.6	Apparent Nutrient Digestibility of Broiler Chickens Fed Diets Containing Fermented Poultry Droppings	44
4.7	Carcass Characteristics of Broiler Birds Fed Diets Containing Fermented Poultry Droppings	45
4.8	Internal Organs of Broiler Birds Fed Diets Containing Fermented Poultry Droppings	46
4.9	Organoleptic Properties of Broiler Chickens Fed Diets Containing Fermented Poultry Droppings	47
4.10	Cost Analysis of Broiler Chickens Fed Diets Containing Fermented Poultry Droppings	48

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

#### INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Background to the Study

1.0

The growth performance of broiler chickens has been spectacular over the last thirty years, mainly due to the genetic progress and improvement of nutrition and a controlled environment, so that it takes 33 days to reach a finishing average body weight of about 2 kg (Wilson, 2005; Choct, 2009). According to Ghaly and MacDonald (2012), the rearing of birds has improved from a side-line occupation into a fully-fledged commercial enterprises. Broiler chicken production is one of the fastest means of producing animal protein because of their short generation interval (Babatunde, 1980). Feed is a major component affecting the net return from the poultry because the cost of feed accounts for between 60 to 70 % of broiler production, and is a major factor that affects their production cost (Srivastava et al., 2013). The cost of production of broiler meat has remained high due to the high cost of feed. Groundnut cake (GNC) has been used as a protein supplement in broiler diets but its price has continued to increase in our markets. This has necessitated the need for an alternative feed ingredient for groundnut cake as a protein supplement (Yahaya, 2014). Such choice of ingredient in the diet of monogastrics must have the ability to supply required protein, have an adequate amino acid profile, provide balanced energy: protein ratio and in addition possess the merit of easy storage, availability and low cost. Presently, a lot of emphasis is being placed on research on the use of agro-industrial by-products and animal wastes, which do not offer much competition as food for man and other animals. The poultry industries have produced 22 million tonnes of manure from over 18 billion populations of poultry (FAO, 2010). The high poultry waste production causes an adverse

effect of ammonia pollution on the environment, and thus the need to recycle. Poultry waste (excreta rich in nitrogen, calcium, phosphorus, vitamins and energy) is capable of being utilized when materials are recycled by feeding (NRC, 1983).

Poultry waste has drawn attention as a potential feed ingredient due to its nutrient composition. Pure poultry droppings can be collected from cages, wire floors or slated floors to be treated after it has been collected, which could be used as a source of nutrient for various classes of poultry. Dried poultry waste as described here, refers to air and sundried droppings from poultry. However, poultry droppings have been used as partial feeding for broilers, (Ghaly and Macdonald, 2012) but limited information is available on the use of fermented poultry droppings for feeding broiler chickens. The fermentation process serves as a means of providing a source of nourishment for the large rural poultry population. It enhances the nutrient content of foods through the synthesis of protein, vitamins and essential amino acids. (Zhang *et al.*, 2010). The effect of fermentation time on the performance of broiler chickens has not been fully exploited, and this forms the basis on which the research was conducted.

#### 1.2 Statement of the Research Problem

Owing partly to the COVID–19 economic realities, the cost of commercially prepared or factory-produced feeds has increased beyond the reach of many average poultry farmers. The cost of processing ingredients has also gone very high, which has resulted in declining productivity and profitability, for intensive broiler production systems in Nigeria (Hassan *et al.*, 2011). The alternative sources of proteins which include cattle, goat fish etc, has also skyrocketed beyond the reach of the average citizen, who are observed to consume very low level of protein at present (Ayanwale, 2006). The present groundnut and soya beans

production level can no longer supply both human needs and for use as poultry feed ingredients. The situation has resulted in a rise in the prices of poultry chickens including broilers. Poultry droppings are a good source of supplemental protein, energy and minerals. In addition to offering an economic advantage, using livestock poultry droppings in feed also helps to utilize valuable nutrients such as phosphorus, potassium and other minerals elements, (Kim *et al.*, 2020). Poultry droppings has also been used to feed goats (Reddy *et al.*, 2012., Ajayi *et al.*, 2016) sheep (Bello and Tsado, 2013) and cattle (Alam, 2008) with great positive result. Indiscriminate disposal of poultry manure has been identified as a major source of environmental degradation in production areas through air and water pollution associated with nitrogen and phosphorus emissions and losses from manure, (Adeoye *et al.*, 1994). Therefore, considering the central roles broiler chickens play in Nigeria's diets, it becomes imperative to seek alternative sources of feed ingredients for the business to be sustained.

## 1.3 Justification for the Study

Fish meal and other animal protein sources are becoming increasingly expensive because of high demand during production and competition between humans and livestock. Poultry droppings have been reported to contain 21% crude protein and other macronutrients that can support broiler production (NRC, 1983). However, there is limited information on the use of fermented poultry droppings (FPD) which may provide an alternative way of recycling poultry waste products which would have constituted environmental pollution, but equally reducing the cost of broiler production through reduced cost of feeding.

## 1.4 Aims and Objective of the Study

The aim of this research study was to evaluate the effect of fermentation time on the performance of broiler chickens fed fermented poultry droppings under a single phase feeding regime.

The objectives of the study were to:

- determine the effect of fermentation time on the growth performance of broiler chickens fed a diet containing fermented poultry droppings under single phase feeding;
- ii. determine the digestibility of differently fermented poultry droppings fed to broiler chickens;
- iii. assess the effect of fermentation time on the carcass characteristics of broiler chickens fed diets containing fermented poultry dropping under single phase feeding;
- iv. examine the effect of fermentation time on the meat quality of broiler chicken fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings under single phase feeding;
- v. evaluate the effect of fermentation time on the sensory properties of the meat of broiler chickens fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings under single phase feeding; and
- vi. determine the effect of fermentation time on the economy of producing broiler chickens fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings under single phase feeding.

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Animal Protein

2.0

The production of poultry in Nigeria is recognized among domestic animal production and impacts a significant amount of meat and eggs meant for human utilization (Onu and Madubuke, 2006). Alabi and Aruna (2005) opined that the enterprise has undergone a major increase over the years. For instance, poultry meat production in Nigeria has improved from 172, 000 metric tonnes in 1999 to 211,000 tonnes in 2005. Nevertheless, the rise is not steady with the demand owing to none supply of quality feed (Onu and Madubuke, 2006).

According to Defang *et al.* (2008), the price of conventional feedstuff which are key source of protein and energy in poultry diets has continued to increase due to their insufficient supply. Agbede *et al.* (2002) suggested that the rationale behind the high price of conventional feedstuffs such as soya beans, sorghum, maize and fishmeal is due to high competition between industrial processors, human consumers and other users for conventional feedstuffs. This has given rise to the high cost of feed, causing economic losses in poultry production in Nigeria (Aderolu *et al.*, 2007), the author also suggested that there is a need to continue to search for alternative sources of protein and energy that are not probably not facing such competition and demand as the conventional feed stuffs. Onyimonyi and Onukwufor (2009), indicated that the main solution to the problem of the rising cost of energy and protein sources for monogastric is seeking new and using non-conventional resources which can replace conventional ones in diets without any deleterious effect on performance.

The fastest means for overcoming the protein supply-demand gap is dependable on the production of animals that bring quick returns and are capable of converting feed to flesh, having a short generation period, for instance, poultry, and the use of non-expensive and locally obtainable non-conventional feedstuffs within the reach in a well-defined feeding regime to lower the cost (Abdulmojeed *et al.*, 2010). Consequently, if poultry production must develop and the growth sustained, alternative energy and protein sources which are available and not in competition with other large-scale demands must be sourced (Ugwu and Onyimonyi, 2008; Mmerole, 2009). In the past decades, studies have been done to identify alternative and non-conventional feed resources which are less expensive and easily accessible for production (Aduku, 1993; Esonu *et al.*, 2003; Amaefule and Iraonya, 2005)

As in the developed and other developing economies of the world, non-ruminant animal production especially the poultry industry plays a pivotal role; a predominant source of animal protein both in the form of eggs and lean meat production. More than 70% of the cost of production in the poultry industry is for feed provision, and hence, the profitability of this industry depends largely on the quality and economics of feed production (Afolayan and Afolayan, 2008; Banson *et al.*, 2015). Expansion of the industry will therefore mainly be determined by the sufficient availability and affordability of good quality feed for the birds and subsequently good poultry products, such as eggs and meats for the consumers (Adejimi *et al.*, 2011). For intensive enterprises, inadequacies in nutrient supply often lead to a drop in egg production as well as a decline in growth performance on the part of broilers for meat production.

#### 2.2 High Cost of Animal Feed

The rise in prices of feed can be considered the major key problem facing the production of poultry in Nigeria as well as underdeveloped Nations where the feed alone costs over 70% of total production (Uko and Kamalu, 2003). This challenge has made a lot of poultry farmers either reduce the level of their production or stop the entire production and increase the crisis of animal protein intake in the country (Hassan *et al.*, 2011).

## 2.3 Protein Requirement of Livestock

By the findings of Ani and Omeje (2007) the expected mean level of animal protein utilization in Nigeria at 8g per day which is against the suggested intake by FAO of 65g/day of which 35g source of the protein should be from the animal (Atsu, 2002). Onyimonyi and Onukwufor (2009) indicated that the scarce and high price of animal protein has been provoked by the high cost of conventional feed ingredients and animal products, which can be ascribed to the low productivity of farm animals. Consequently, the use of non-conventional ingredients as substitutes for grains and other conventional feedstuffs has been recommended; hence the search for non-conventional ingredients has been the main active area of animal nutrition research in the tropical world. Ikani and Adesehinwa (2000) suggested that the solution to the problem of animal protein shortage and the high cost of conventional feed in Nigeria lies in the production of highly prolific animals that are efficient converters of feed to flesh and have short generation intervals, and also the use of cheap and locally available non-conventional feedstuffs to reduce the cost of production.

#### 2.4 Poultry Manure as Animal Feed

The poultry industry is one of the largest and fastest-growing sectors of livestock production in the world with a 35% increase in egg production and meat between 2000-2008 (FAO, 2010). Rearing of birds has grown from backyard farming to a commercial enterprise with single farms housing thousands of birds. The 2020 world annual census data estimated the world flock to be over 33 billion birds with an estimated yearly output of over 46 billion tonnes of manure (FAO, 2023). This rapid expansion of the industry over the last several decades has increased the need to find economically viable and environmentally acceptable ways of utilizing such large quantities of waste. With the increasing production of poultry products, storage and disposal of raw poultry manure has become an environmental problem due to the associated air, water and soil pollution (Benali and Kudra, 2002).

Poultry manure begins to decompose immediately after excretion giving off ammonia in high concentrations, which has adverse effects on the health and productivity of birds as well as the health of farm workers (Amon *et al.*, 2006; Zhang and Lau, 2007). Feacal droppings can also serve as a breeding ground for pathogenic microorganisms and as a medium for disease transmission among birds. Flies and other undesirable insects can breed on the manure leading to the health nuisances and misfortunes linked with them (Lay *et al.*, 2011). Manure is also a source of odour caused by the activity of anaerobic microorganisms in the manure (Berry and Miller, 2005; Fares *et al.*, 2005). It is, therefore, necessary to subject poultry manure to some treatments in order to improve its storage and handling properties and to minimize the risk of disease transmission and environmental pollution. Proper poultry manure management systems that will preserve the environment, contribute

to both animal and human health and return a profit on investment to farmers need to be developed.

Poultry manure can be dried and used in animal feeding. Drying refers to the removal of moisture from the manure so that it is near equilibrium with atmospheric air. By drying, the rate of deterioration from chemical and biological activity is minimized and the environmental problems associated with raw manure can be prevented (Bernhart and Fasina, 2009). Drying also removes manure stickiness and hence allows for easier handling (Bernhart and Fasina, 2009). Drying with heated air offers several advantages over unheated air drying including a higher rate of oxidation and pathogen destruction (Ghaly and Mac-Donald, 2012). Drying with heated air can be carried out using a variety of heat sources such as solar energy, electricity, natural gas or other fossil fuels. However solar energy offers several advantages over other energy sources:

- (a) it is available in abundance all year round,
- (b) it has a higher rate of oxidation
- (c) it results in good waste stabilization, odour control and pathogen destruction (Amine-Khodja *et al.*, 2006; Asabe, 2009; Martens and Bohm, 2009).

Dried poultry manure has been used as an animal feed for monogastric animals (Alam *et al.*, 2008; Ghaly and MacDonald, 2012). The use of poultry manure as animal feed could significantly improve the economics of poultry production. Savings in feed costs through nutrient recycling would be sufficient to justify the cost of drying while also protecting the environment. Spiehs and Goyal (2007) recommended that the best management practices to reduce pathogens in livestock wastes should be approached from three angles: reducing pathogens in the animals, during manure collection and storage and lastly during land application of manure. Contrarily, raw manure and improperly treated manure can serve as

a source of pathogenic contamination causing soil, air and water pollution, which in turn will result in critical public health issues (Spiehs and Goyal, 2007).

#### 2.5 Poultry Manure

The intensive poultry production establishments have a high production of poultry waste that is commonly used as fertilizer. At present, the use of such excrement (manure) for the feeding of monogastric animals has increased. Poultry manure is understood as the collection of faeces and urine of birds, plus food remains, drugs, chemicals, beddings, feathers, eggs and absorbent material. They are characterized as being materials of low energy value but high in proteins, fibre and minerals. The protein is presented with a high proportion of non-protein nitrogen, hence its use is exclusively for the feeding of ruminants (Brunton, 2012).

## 2.6 Features of Poultry Droppings

Poultry manure contains all the essential plant nutrients that are used by plants. These include nitrogen (N), phosphorous (P), potassium (K), calcium (Ca), magnesium (Mg), sulphur (S), manganese (Mn), copper (Cu), zinc (Zn), chlorine (Cl), boron (B), iron (Fe) and molybdenum (Mo). The amounts of these nutrients can vary depending upon many factors including the age and diet of the flock, as well as the moisture content and age of the manure (Amanullah *et al.*, 2010).

## 2.7 Types of Poultry Manure

There are different types of poultry manure such as deep litter manure, broiler manure, cage manure and high-rise manure (Mohamed *et al.*, 2010).

#### 2.7.1 Deep litter poultry manure

This refers to the manure produced by layers, broilers, cockerels etc. during the laying period. Deep litter for chickens usually consists of peanut hulls, rice husk or wood shavings in a layer 10-15 cm deep. During production, the accumulating manure gets mixed with the litter. When excreta are added, the litter becomes moist but remains aerobic. Aerobic fermentation occurs with the production of heat and loss of CO<sub>2</sub> and ammonia (Preusch *et al.*, 2002). In this system, the poultry birds are kept in large pens of up to 250 birds each, on the floor covered with litter materials like straw, and sawdust or leave up to a depth of 20.32cm-30.45cm. Suitable dry organic materials like sawdust, leaves, dry grasses, groundnut shells, broken-up maize stalks and cobs, and bark of trees in sufficient quantity to give a depth of about 6 inches in the pen should be used. The droppings of the birds gradually combine with the materials used to build up the litter (Preusch *et al.*, 2002). Deep litter and broiler manure have almost no difference, except broiler manure is changed more often and thus the loss of ammonia is reduced due to organic decomposition (Benjamin, 2019).

## 2.7.2 Cage manure

This manure contains 60-70% moisture since it is not mixed with litter materials. Litter is often not used when birds are used in cages or slots. Enormous loss of ammonia occurs in this manure if it is not used the earliest because of the high humidity of the resulting litter due to a lack of ground litter materials (Amanullah, 2010).

## 2.7.3 Deep pit or high-rise manure

The deep pit solid manure system, or high-rise building, has a concrete floor and masonry or concrete side walls and is typically constructed 0.61-1.83m below the ground. Pens or

cages are then built on slotted flooring 2.44m or more above the pit floor. Because the pit is often built below ground level, care must be taken to ensure that surface and groundwater are not contaminated. Foundation drains and external grading to direct surface water away help to keep manure dry so that natural composting might occur. High rates of air movement from mechanical fans located in the pit help to keep the manure relatively dry. A benefit of the deep pit system is that manure can be stored for several months before removal pit (Overcash *et al.*, 1983).

#### 2.8 Nutrient Content in Poultry Manure

The chemical composition of poultry manure varies because of several factors such as the source of manure, feed of animals, age and condition of animals, storage and handling of manure and litter used (Mohamed *et al.*, 2010). Nutrient values of poultry manure vary considerably depending upon the conditions under which it is processed. The ratio of litter to manure and the moisture content causes considerable variation among manures from different houses. In fresh poultry excreta, uric acid or urate is the most abundant nitrogen compound (40-70% of total N) while urea and ammonium are present in small quantities. The nutrient content of different types of poultry manure is furnished in Appendix II.

## 2.9 Nitrogen Content of Poultry Manure

Uric acid and urea are the predominant forms of organic nitrogen in poultry litter, comprising about 70% of its nitrogen content (Nahm, 2003). Uric acid excreted by poultry is rapidly degraded to urea and then ammonia by uricase and urease enzymes produced by litter microorganisms (Nahm, 2003). Urease-producing bacteria may be present in poultry litter at a concentration of 6 to 8 Logcfu/g (Rothrock *et al.*, 2008). The poultry litter is influenced by temperature, moisture content and pH, (Elliott and Collins, 1982). Elliott and

Collins demonstrated that elevated temperatures in poultry houses accelerated ammonia production and volatilization.

## 2.10 Microbial Composition in Poultry Manure

The chicken litter contains a large and diverse population of microorganisms. Microbial concentrations of chicken litter can reach up to  $10^{10}$ cfu/g, and gram-positive bacteria, such as *Actinomycetes, Clostridia, Eubacteria and Bacilli/Lactobacilli* account for nearly 90% of the microbial diversity (Bolan *et al.*, 2010). Pathogens in chicken litter represent the major group of bacteria of special interest to litter processors. A variety of pathogens can be found in chicken litter or chicken litter base organic fertilizers such as Bordellia, comply lobacter, *E. coli, Listeria, Salmonella* e.t.c (Bolan *et al.*, 2010; Lu *et al.*, 2003; Stern *et al.*, 2003) while different microbes display different metabolic activities within the litter environment, high level background microflora may interfere with the survival and growth of pathogens in chicken litter.

#### 2.11 Reuse of Poultry Waste

Intensive livestock production systems cause serious problems in waste management. The problem arises due to feeding animals huge amounts of high-density nutrient concentrates, plant biomass, and agro-industrial by-products. The concentration of large inputs in small areas results in unfriendly environmental issues regarding animal waste management. Komolafe and Sonaiya (2014) noted that since most of the livestock waste was produced in confinement units, the nearby land base became readily available to accommodate the waste in an environment-unfriendly manner. With the intensification of livestock production, manure has been viewed as a waste product in need of disposal as opposed to a source of fertilizer for integrated cropping and livestock production systems (McAllister *et* 

al., 2011). Poultry waste (PW) is predominantly solid; which includes the faecal and urinary wastes, bedding material, wasted feed, feathers and non-degradable materials. Poultry industry wastes are non-consumables to humans but could be recycled and become consumables to livestock, thus entering the human food chain. Poultry waste is not a product of uniform quality (USEPA, 2000).

Pickard (2006) observed that recycling available nutrients for reuse in animal production rather than for disposal would go a long way in reducing the final volume of animal wastes released into the environment. In addition, effective use of animal waste resources might provide a partial, but still important, contribution to reducing net carbon (iv) oxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) emissions (Ceotto, 2005). Earlier reports on PW processing as animal feed were based on individual waste being dehydrated by air-drying, oven-drying, autoclaving; sun-drying (Saleh et al., 2002); composting and pelleting (Edens et al., 2007). These methods require the skill or the technical know-how or high capital outlay making them not feasible for small-medium scale farmers. In addition, Ghaly and Alhattab (2013) reported that heating and drying processes are more efficient than deep stacking or fermentation in killing pathogenic bacteria. Processing litter by either air-drying, oven drying or autoclaving was not satisfactory for the control of odour, pathogens and nitrogen loss. On the other hand, sun drying may be have low-cost investment, but its resultant product is of low quality due to repeated wetting and re-drying, contamination from dust, birds and animals is a major disadvantage. The future success of the livestock sector in providing meat and other animal products may depend on the utilization and acceptability of animal waste by the major stakeholders as useful input recycled into the industry. This will bring economic benefits and support the efforts to reduce environmental degradation (Pickard, 2006).

#### 2.12 Poultry Dropping used as Ruminant Feed

Poultry dropping, although not aesthetically pleasing, has been recognized as a safe, nutritionally valid and environmentally friendly animal feed, especially when combined with other feed sources as supplements. It refers to pure excreta from layers in batteries and poultry litter to the mixture of excreta and bedding material obtained largely from broiler houses and also from houses where pullets and layers are kept on deep litter systems. A small amount of feed spillage may be present in the material (Van Ryssen, 2015).

#### 2.13 Uses of Poultry Droppings to Non-Ruminant Animals (Poultry)

In poultry diets it has been found that dried poultry manure can be included up to 5% for broilers, up to 20% for Leghorns and up to 40% for layers without adversely affecting production; however, feed efficiency was inversely proportional to the amount included in the diet. No difference in the performance of young pullets and layers when sun-dried poultry waste was compared to oven-dried (Coligado *et al.*, 1982). The frequency of collection of broiler litter was not found to affect intake or digestion in cattle that it was fed (Wang *et al.*, 1998). The high ash content of poultry litter needs to be considered when using it in the formulation of diets. Aflatoxin content was reduced in poultry litter when it was deep stacked (Jones *et al.*, 1996). Poultry litter was found to be a viable supplemental crude protein source for broilers (Bagley *et al.*, 1996). As the level of poultry dried waste increased (10 to 30 %) in the diets of broilers there was a decrease in body weight gains and feed conversion (Martin *et al.*, 1985).

#### 2.14 Uses of Poultry Manure to Crops

Land application of poultry manure to crop and forest land is an effective way of recycling the nutrients back into the land. There are some key steps to utilizing manure in an environmentally and economically sound manner:

- i. Know the available nutrient content of the manure.
- ii. Know the nutrient needs of the crop, and apply the manure at the correct rate and time to provide the nutrients using application and conservation practices.
- iii. Movement of the nutrients from the field adjusts the use of supplemental fertilizer to compensate for the nutrients applied in the manure.

Applications of manure as a crop nutrient source may provide a portion, or all of the plant nutrient requirement, dependent on the rate of application and the relative content of the nutrients. Application rate decisions are usually based on either the nitrogen or the phosphorus content of the manure and environmental concerns are typically based on the amount of nitrogen, phosphorus, zinc, copper, or arsenic added to the soil.

Knowing the nutrient content of poultry manure is critical to using it as a crop nutrient source. Not knowing the nutrient content of the manure to be applied can result in large errors in application rate -- either too much or too little.

#### 2.15 Poultry Droppings as Feed for Fishes

Poultry manure is a potential source of protein. It has attracted the attention of animal nutritionists all over the world because of its richness of protein (21 %), calcium (5.4 %), phosphorus as K<sub>2</sub>O and magnesium as MgO (0.335 %) other minerals (SPFG, 1994).

Recently, fish farmers especially in the integrated farming system have been encouraged to recycle wastes from animal dung (especially poultry) as food for fish rather than discard them. Poultry manure is not only used as organic manure in the production of plankton but also directly consumed by fish in the culture system. Although this observation has been verified by many workers (SPFG, 1994), information on the effect of dung when incorporated into artificial fish diets is scarce. (Adewumi, 2011).

## 2.16 Poultry Waste as a Source of Protein

One of the main factors that contribute today to maintaining the quality of the environment is the use of by-products of animal origin, so it is a priority to look for alternative nutritional sources that reduce costs without adversely affecting production. Agro-industrial activities generate waste that can be reincorporated into the food chain, after physical-chemical treatment (Castañeda *et al.*, 2010).

Within the last report made by INEGI-Mexico (2010), it was analyzed that the livestock products (Appendix I) obtained from cattle reported an annual production of 665 thousand tonnes/year, mainly in some regions where livestock is practised, in the intensive type of production; a part of the byproducts obtained is destined for export, mainly due to the high quality of the product (Abdul-Kalil *et al.*, 2006). The pigs are produced in 28 states of the country through intensive and extensive farms; as well as 500 thousand tonnes of byproducts of this species, which are used annually for national consumption. Concerning sheep and goats, the average national production is 10,000 and 11,000 tonnes/year respectively, in this case, the farms are extensive and they are carried out in 28 of the 32 entities of the country; there is only a slight deficit in the production of goats, which is covered by the import. The national production of consumer birds represents 30,000 to

40,000 tonnes/year, being one of the most technified in the country. Most of these farms are located in areas close to urban centres that consume most of this product (Gutiérrez *et al.*, 2013). On the other hand, the existing deficit in the production of grains and the relative abundance of agricultural waste, make these along with other organic waste and livestock by-products become an acceptable and low-cost nutritional alternative that can be used in the feeding of ruminants as a source of non-degradable protein in rumen (Gómez, 2006). An answer to this situation is found in the poultry industry, which is the source of a great miscellany of by-products with an enormous nutritional potential, which is evident as long as the transformation technologies applied propitiate the bioavailability of its nutrients. Thus, the use of organic waste generated by this industry can contribute to the nutrient reduction cost in balanced feed for the preparation of ruminant diets (Ockerman and Hanen, 2005).

#### 2.17 Fermentation

Fermentation is one of the oldest and most important traditional food processing techniques. Food fermentation involves the use of microorganisms and enzymes for the production of foods with distinct quality attributes that are quite different from the original agricultural raw material. Fermentation is the process of souring food used for many centuries by mankind as a means of processing and persevering foods. Most of the fermentation processes used are spontaneous. They occur without any deliberate effort to control or influence the reaction (Maud, 1990). There are two main applications of fermentation in animal feeding. The first is the preservation of feeds in the best possible nutritional condition for use when the original fresh material is not available (Ruurd, 2021). The second application is the enhancement of the nutritional value of feeds either by

fermenting the feedstuff or by fermenting other materials that may be used as additives to supplement the original feed. The fermentation extends shelf life, inhibits spoilage and pathogenic microorganisms, imparts desirable sensory qualities, and improves nutritional value or digestibility (Harris *et al.*, 1995).

#### 2.17.1 Anaerobic fermentation

Wastes are unwanted resources (Mukhtar et al., 2002). The broiler litter is a by-product resulting from the periodical cleanout of poultry production facilities. One possible alternative use of poultry litter is an economical source of energy for space heating or power generation either through combustion, gasification, co-firing, or pyrolysis (Keener et al., 2005; Kelleher et al., 2002; Mukhtar et al., 2002; McMullen et al., 2004; Lopez et al., 2005). The gasification of poultry litter or other organic feedstock may be accomplished either through a thermal or a biological process. The major advantage of thermal gasification is its ability to achieve total conversion of organic matter at rapid rates, but its limitation is the energy requirements related to the evaporation of moisture of the feedstock to achieve high temperatures. On the other hand, biological gasification or anaerobic digestion takes place at relatively low temperatures in wet or dry (diluted) feedstock but usually results in only 50% conversion of organic solids at significantly slower rates than those of thermal gasification (Chaynoweth and Isaacson, 1987). Anaerobic digestion of poultry litter yields a more stable product, removal of nuisance odours, maintaining the fertilizer value of the manure, and the production of a valuable fuel, methane (Kelleher et al., 2002). Another benefit is that flies, rodents, and other vectors of disease are not attracted to the stabilized product from the digestion process. Another great benefit of anaerobic digestion is the reduction in pathogens. Salmonellae, faecal coliforms, oocysts

(Eimeria tenella), and fungal spores are all either greatly destroyed or inactivated in the anaerobic process. The thermophilic reactors tend to have greater pathogenicity reduction rates (Przemysław et al., 2020). As with most anaerobic digestion systems, the largest barriers to large-scale implementation are the high initial costs of an anaerobic reactor and the often unpredictable stability of the process (Kelleher et al., 2002). The fuel potential of poultry litter and its economics are well documented by Reardon et al. (2001) and Ward (2003). Although the technology for anaerobic digestion of dairy and swine waste is commercially established and intensively researched (Demirci and Demirer, 2004), "none of the large scale anaerobic digestion plants worked as well as might have been predicted for poultry litter" (Callaghan et al., 1999). No previous review on the anaerobic digestion of poultry litter was found in the literature, and consequently, this review's scope requires that it contain successes and failures from the beginning of the implementation of this technology.

#### 2.18 Nutrient Requirement of Broiler Chickens

The poultry can easily change feed into meat within the shortest possible time, competently and using less environmental influence in comparison with other domestic animals. The high nutrient requirements of the birds lead to a high rate of productivity. Poultry needs the availability of no less than thirty dietary nutrients in appropriate balance and concentrations (Kirk, 2018). The nutrient necessities of poultry are more accurately clear than those of other livestock as a result of their specific condition and the nature under which they are produced (Mbajiorgu, 2010).

#### 2.18.1 Energy requirement of broiler chickens

The feed-taking and energy desires of birds differ by the temperature of the environment and the rate of action. Energy obtained through the feed supplied can be utilized by the animal, to provide body maintenance, egg production, growth, and important functions of the body along with its activities (John, 2008). Mainly, broilers chickens feed to acquire energy. Feed that gives energy to broilers can be adjusted to meet up with daily requirements.

By Aduku (2005) the energy necessary for broiler starter chickens is 2800 kcal/kg whereas for broiler finisher is 3000 kcal/kg, but Olomu (1995) suggested 2500 kcal/kg for broilers at the age of 0-28 days, as the standard recommended by NRC (1994).

## 2.18.2 Protein requirement of broiler chickens

The protein needed for a broiler at 0-4 weeks of age is 23% whereas that of the broiler at 5-8 weeks of age is 20% (Aduku 2005). Kekeocha (1985) indicated that 15% to 20% recommended for the finishers and 21% to 24% for the starter chicks. Protein requirements for poultry are truly requirements for the amino acids in the protein content of the diet. The Amino acids in the protein are utilized by birds to accomplish different functions such as feathers, skin, ligaments and bore matrix as well as the soft tissues, muscles and organs (NRC, 1994). The requirement of protein is critical in meeting the requirements of amino acids of the poultry which differs in the performance of the poultry as demonstrated by Nemovhola (2001).

## 2.18.3 Fats requirement of broiler chickens

When fat is been included in the diet of broilers, it can enhance the energy level along with increased output and feed effectiveness (NRC, 1994). Various sources of fat are animal carcasses, Vegetable oil and also from food leftovers.

#### 2.18.4 Minerals requirement of broiler chickens

The report from NRC (1994) showed that minerals can be referred to as inorganic elements of tissues or feeds. These minerals are always classified into two types according to the quantity that is needed. Necessities for macro minerals are more often than not acknowledged as a percentage of the feed, while trace minerals requirements are indicated as mg per kg of the feed. Minerals are required for the development of the skeleton, for the osmotic balance within the body and co-factors of enzymes. Phosphorus and Calcium are necessary for the development and for maintaining the skeleton of the body while magnesium, sodium, sodium chloride, and potassium are considered necessary for body pH and osmotic relationship. The calcium needed for meat-type birds to be as 0.80% for (6-8 weeks) while 1.00% (for 0-3 weeks). The recommended percentage for potassium is 0.30% for broiler chickens, values for sodium chloride are 0.20% and 0.12% for broilers at the age of 0-4 weeks and 5-8 weeks respectively. Arbor (2009) recommended 1.05% calcium and 0.85% phosphorus for inclusion in broiler diet formulation. Likewise, Aduku (2005) suggested phosphorus and calcium to be 1.0%, while Olomu (1995) indicated magnesium oxide 0.01 - 0.3%.

#### 2.18.5 Vitamin requirement of broiler chickens

Vitamins are natural substances that are wanted in minute quantity in the body in order to improve chemical activities. The Vitamins are usually divided into two: Water-soluble

vitamins (C and D) and Fat soluble such as vitamins A, D, E, and K (NRC, 1994). Vitamins boost health status and growth, they are vital in most functions of the body which include growth, egg production and feathering in poultry.

#### 2.18.6 Water requirement of broiler chickens

The provision of uncontaminated and cool water free of high concentrations of minerals and other potentially poisonous substances to birds at all times is very necessary. Water is fundamental for the productivity and growth of poultry. Some of the factors that deprive birds of taking water are; relative humidity, environmental temperature, and protein and salt concentration of the diet. The denial of water for a long period has negative effects on the growth of starters and egg production in layers. The increase in environmental temperature raises the rate of water intake (Aduku, 1992).

## 2.16.7 Meat quality characteristics

Meat quality is usually defined as a measurement of attributes or character that determines the suitability of meat to be eaten as fresh or stored for a reasonable period without deterioration (El-Masry *et al.*, 2012). The quality of meat can be affected by several factors such as the genetic propensity of the animal, how the animal was reared, the age of the animal and the nutritional status during production. These factors are known to affect the fat, lean and connective tissue components of meat and therefore influence meat quality. The conditions at the slaughterhouse also influence meat quality. The way and manner in which animals are handled pre-slaughter affect *rigour mortis*. Similarly, applying electrical stimulation and how the carcass is chilled influence the rate of rigour mortis and subsequent meat quality.

## 2.18.7 The economy of feed conversion in broiler chickens

Very little information is available on the economic value of using poultry waste as feed ingredients in broiler diets. Jacob *et al.* (1971) reported that the economic aspect of producing dry poultry waste and inclusion in poultry rations requires a great deal of study Nonetheless, several workers have stressed the need to find alternative ways of reducing dehydration costs involved in drying poultry waste.

The greatest proportion of broiler production is accounted to feed, it has a direct impact on farm production levels are lower than broiler requirement production efficiency is negatively and significantly altered. Given diet with a higher nutrient level above the requirement will improve performance due to the higher cost of those diets, there will be economic losses. Josephine (1987) reported that 1.0% of oven-dried poultry waste appears to be the economical maximum limit of inclusion in the broiler diet. Malik *et al.* (2020) reported that the feed conversion ratio at the higher phase should not exceed 20% of non-conventional raw material (cowpea, milling waste, plantain peel meal) for optimum economy and also reported that the starter phase the same dietary inclusion for good economy feed conversion can be containing 30%. Cunningham and Lia (1974) reported on the effect of different dietary levels of dry poultry waste on broilers, he noted that feed conversion ratios indicate that dried poultry waste was lower in energy than he had estimated in formulating the rations. (ME 750 kcal/kg) which agrees with Rinehart *et al.* (1973), that dry poultry waste at high levels has limited value for broilers.

#### **CHAPTER THREE**

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 3.1 Experimental Site

3.0

The experiment was conducted at the Animal Unit of the Teaching and Research Farm of the School of Agriculture and Agricultural Technology, Federal University of Technology, Minna, Gidan Kwano Campus. The experimental site lies in the Guinea Savanna Zone of North Central Nigeria on Latitude 9.5248<sup>o</sup> 35'N and Longitude 6.4344<sup>o</sup> 33'E. The average minimum temperature is 23°C and the maximum average temperature is about 27.5°C. (FMSN, 2015).

## 3.2 Collection and Preparation of Sample

#### 3.2.1 Preparation of supernatant decanted solution.

Five kilogramme of maize (*Zea mays*) was cleaned and soaked in 6 litres of tap water in a bowl for three days. It was decanted and the grains were wet-milled before sieving with a muslin cloth and allowed to sediment. The impurities were discarded the starch suspension was allowed to sediment and the supernatant water was collected and used for fermentation.

## 3.2.2 Determination of pH

This is the measure of the degree of acidity and alkalinity of the supernatant decanted solution sample. A pH ranging from 1.0 to 6.0 indicates increasing acidity, 8.0 to 14.0 shows increasing alkalinity while a pH of 7.0 means neutral. Generally, the pH of supernatant decanted solution ranges from 4.0 to 6.0. The value was determined using a portable pH meter.

#### 3.2.3 Preparation of fermented poultry droppings

The poultry droppings (PD) were sourced from a battery-caged poultry house within the Minna metropolis. The test material was sieved using a metal sieve with a mesh size of 5mm<sup>2</sup> to remove caked material and unwanted items such as feathers, metal objects, stones, etc. It was sun-dried, according to the method of Couch (2007) by allowing the wet samples to be air-dried under an open environment, while a modified fermentation process was equally adopted, and fermented using supernatant decanted solution (SDS) in the ratio of 5 kg of the poultry droppings to two litres of supernatant decanted solution with variation in the time of fermentation (24 hours, 48 hours, 72 hours and 96 hours) for T2, T3, T4, T5 respectively to produce fermented poultry droppings (FPD). A sample of the fermented poultry droppings was taken for biochemical analysis. After fermentation, it was again sundried for laboratory analysis for its proximate composition. Proximate analysis was carried out at the Department of Animal Production Laboratory, Federal University of Technology Minna to analyze for crude protein, crude fibre, ether extract and ash, Nitrogen free extract was calculated using the equation. NFE =100 - %CP+ %CF+ %EE+ %ASH. Metabolizable energy ME was calculated using the Pauzenga (1985) equation: ME  $(Kca/kg) = (35 \times % CP) + (81.8 \times % EE) + (35.5 \times % NFE).$ 

## 3.3 Laboratory Analysis of Fermented Poultry Droppings

Proximate analysis of the fermented poultry droppings was carried out at the Animal Production Laboratory, Federal University of Technology Minna, Niger State, Nigeria, following the procedures of AOAC (2000). Vitamins and Minerals were determined using atomic absorption spectrophotometer (Buck, 210 Model) at the Central laboratory of the Federal University of Technology Minna. While phosphorus was determined by automatic

colourimetric according to the methods outlined by (AOAC, 2000). The phytochemical examination was carried out using the standard methods of Sofowora (1993) at the Department of Animal Production Laboratory, Federal University of Technology Minna.

## 3.4 Experimental Design

A completely randomized design was used. A total of 150-day-old chicks were used. Experimental birds were divided into five treatments, with 30 birds per treatment and were replicated three times with 10 birds per replicate.

## 3.5 Experimental Diets

Five experimental diets labelled T1, T2, T3, T4 and T5 were formulated to be isonitrogenous (22% CP) and isocaloric (2850kcal/kg, ME), where the fermented poultry dropping were included at 0, 5, 5, 5 and 5% for the 5 treatments, respectively. The diets were formulated to meet the nutrient requirements of broiler starter chicks as outlined by Oluyemi and Robert (2002), in a single phase feeding regime. The composition of the experimental diets is presented in Table 3.1.

#### 3.6 Experimental Birds and their Management

A total of 150-day-old Olam broiler chicks were used for the experiment. On arrival, the birds were weighed and randomly allocated to the diets. All experimental birds were given feed and water *ad libitum*. The experiment lasted for 8 weeks. At the start of the experiment, the birds were allowed one week of acclimatization before the commencement of data collection. Similarly, they were administered vaccines as described by Oluyemi and Robert (2002).

**Table 3.1: Gross Composition of the Experimental Diets and Calculated Nutrients** 

Ingredients (kg)	T1	<b>T2</b>	Т3	T4	T5
Maize	58.93	54.09	54.12	54.31	59.09
Groundnut cake	29.07	28.91	28.88	28.69	23.91
Fish meal	3.00	3.00	3.00	3.00	3.00
Poultry dropping	-	5.00	5.00	5.00	5.00
Maize bran	5.00	5.00	5.00	5.00	5.00
Bone meal	3.00	3.00	3.00	3.00	3.00
Lysine	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25
Methionine	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25
Salt	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25
Premix	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25
Total	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00
Calculated Analysis					
Calcium	0.08	0.07	0.67	0.69	0.71
Phosphorus	2.15	1.43	1.39	1.39	1.37
Lysine	2.1	2.3	2.3	2.3	2.3
Methionine	1.6	1.6	1.5	1.6	1.7
Ether Extract	3.82	3.96	3.96	3.94	3.54
Crude Fibre	4.45	4.66	4.68	4.65	4.43
Crude Protein	22.08	21.66	21.72	23.11	23.45
ME (Kcal/kg)	2963.03	2911.05	2911.29	2912.80	2950.65

Each 2.5kg contains Vit. A- 10,000,000iu, Vit. D – 2,000,000iu, Vit. E- 20,000iu, Vit. K- 2,250mg, thiamine – 170mg, riboflavin – 5,000mg, Pyridoxine – 2,750mg, Niacin – 27,500mg, Vit. B12 – 15mg, Pantothenic acid – 7500mg, Folic acid – 7,500mg, Biotin – 50mg, Manganese – 80g, Zinc – 50g, Copper – 5g, Iodine – 1.5g, Selenium – 200mg and Cobalt – 200mg, FPD – Fermented Poultry Droppings, T1 (0 %), T2 (5 % FPD, 24Hr Fermentation), T3 (5 % 48Hr Fermentation), T4 (5 % 72 Hr Fermentation), T5 (5 % 96Hr Fermentation)

### 3.7 Data Collection

## **3.7.1** Growth parameters

**Body weight gain**: - This was measured as the difference between the final body weight and the initial body weight of the birds divided by the number of birds in each replicate **Feed intake**: - The birds were given weighed amount of feeds daily and their corresponding leftovers were weighed and recorded. Daily feed intake was therefore calculated thus using the formula given by Owen *et al.* (2013) as the difference between the amount of feed fed and the leftover as described.

Feed intake (g) = feed given (g) – feed rejected (g)

**Feed conversion ratio**: - This was calculated as the rate of feed intake to live weight gain using the formula by Mohapatra *et al.* (2014) below:

FCR = 
$$\frac{\text{Feed intake }(g)}{\text{Weight gain }(g)}$$
 (3.1)

**Mortality**: Mortality record was kept throughout the experimental period and was calculated thus using the formula given by Owen *et al.* (2013)

### 3.7.2 Apparent nutrient digestibility trial

Digestibility is a measure of the relative amount of nutrient present in the gut of an animal from a known quantity of feed consumed. The total collection method was used and it was conducted at the 8<sup>th</sup> week of the experiment. Two birds were randomly selected from each treatment, and used for digestibility studies. Droppings were collected after fasting for 12 hours (7.00 pm-7.00 am) in the metabolic cages but allowed access to fresh clean water, after which they were fed the respective diets for four days. At the end of the collection

period, the faecal samples collected from each replicate per day were oven-dried at 80°C until properly dried and recorded. (Mohapatra *et al.*, 2014). Samples of the droppings were analyzed for nutrient digestibility using standard methods (AOAC, 2000) and the results obtained were used to calculate the apparent digestibility by using the formula as described by Muazzez (2016) below:

Apparent digestibility = Nutrients intake in feed - Nutrients voided in faeces x 100 Nutrients in feed consumed (3.3)

#### 3.7.3 Carcass characteristics

At the end of 8 weeks, two birds per replicate were selected at random and starved for 12 hours to empty their gastrointestinal tract. They were slaughtered, plucked, and eviscerated. The carcass and internal organs (liver, heart, gizzard and intestines) were removed, weighed and expressed as a percentage of live weight as described by Muazzez (2016).

### 3.7.3.1 Meat quality characteristics

The method of El-Masry *et al.* (2012) was adopted to evaluate meat quality characteristics with specific reference to meat pH, hot carcass yield and sensory properties.

### 3.7.3.2 pH

This is a measure of the degree of acidity or alkalinity of the meat sample. A pH ranging from 6.0 to 1.0 indicates increasing acidity, 8.0 to 14.0 shows increasing alkalinity while a pH of 7.0 means neutral. Generally, the pH of meat ranges from 5.2 to 7.0. The values were determined twice using a portable meat pH meter (Hanna H199163) after slaughtering.

A proportion of 10g of meat was blended with 90ml of distilled water for two minutes. The pH meter was then inserted in it and the value was recorded using the method described by Bowker and Zhuang (2015).

### 3.7.3.3 Hot carcass yield weight (HCW)

Hot carcass weight is the unchilled weight of the carcass after slaughter. It was determined after the head, intestinal and internal organs of the chicken had been removed. This parameter was used to determine both the yield grade and dressing percentage. Two birds per treatment were selected to determine this parameter. This was done in line with the procedure as described by Barbera and Sonia (2006).

 $HCW = \frac{Dressing percentage}{Live weight} \times 100$ 

(3.4)

### 3.7.3.4 Sensory properties of meat

This parameter determines the overall acceptability of the nearby consumers. About 100g of lean meat was taken from the breasts of the birds in each replicate. These meat samples were boiled at 80 °C for 30 minutes in water with salt seasoning added and then allowed to cool. A 20-member semi-trained panel of tasters were drawn from the University Community and about 15 g of the boiled meat was served to each one. These evaluations were done according to the method described by Grunert *et al.* (2004). This sensory property was evaluated using a 9-point hedonic scale.

The meat samples given to the panelists were evaluated for their organoleptic properties such as appearance, juiciness, taste, tenderness, flavour, aroma, texture and general

acceptability. Bottled water was provided for the panelists to rinse their mouths to reduce carryover effects.

### 3.7.4 Economic analysis of feeding fermented poultry dropping to broiler chickens

A record of all expenses for the purchase of feed ingredients was kept throughout the experimental period and the cost-benefit was calculated, this was done in line with the procedure as described by Banrie (2013).

feed cost per unit gain = 
$$\frac{\text{Feed cost}}{\text{Unit gain}}$$
 (3.5)

## 3.8 Data Analysis

All data obtained from the experiment were subjected to One Way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) using SPSS 2016 version where significant differences were observed, the means were separated using Duncan's Multiple Range Test (Duncan, 1955) described by Steel and Torrie (1980). The results were interpreted based on the outcome of the statistical analyses.

### **CHAPTER FOUR**

#### RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

#### 4.1 Results

4.0

### 4.1.1 Proximate composition of differently processed poultry droppings

The results in Table 4.1. shows the proximate composition and calculated energy values of the experimental diets, from the Table it was shown that dry matter ranged between 93.67 (T2) to 94.67 % (T1), similarly the crude protein values were between 21.66 (T1) to 23.42 % (T4), crude fibre ranged from 17.98 to 18.42 % (T2), ether extracts were between 02.04 (T2) to 02.18 % (T3), ash values varied from 06.98 to 07.31 % (T4). On the other hand, the calculated nitrogen free extract values ranged from 42.94% (T4) to 45.47 % (T1) respectively. The metabolizable energy was between 2837.30 (T2) to 2875.10 (T1) kcal/kg across the treatments.

## **4.1.2** Microbial load of fermented poultry droppings

The microbial count of the various fermented poultry droppings is shown in Table 4.2. The bacteria load of the droppings show T2 (2.90 cfu/g) has the highest count and varies significantly (P<0.05) when compared to the rest samples with the unfermented dropping having the lowest count of (1.87 cfu/g). However, for the fungal count, a significant P<0.05 high value was recorded for T1 (3.22cfu/g) making a significantly different P<0.05 when compared to the remaining treatments while T2 and T3 (1.15 and 1.00 cfu/g) respectively.

**Table 4.1: Proximate Composition and Calculated Energy Value of Differently Processed Poultry Droppings** 

Parameters (%)	Т0	T1	<b>T2</b>	Т3	T4
Dry matter	96.38	94.67	93.67	93.96	93.82
Crude protein	19.91	21.66	21.72	23.11	23.42
Crude fibre	20.13	18.12	18.42	17.98	18.32
Ether extracts	2.53	02.11	02.04	02.18	02.12
Ash	7.85	07.31	06.98	07.04	07.02
Nitrogen	45.93	45.47	44.51	43.65	43.94
Free extract					
ME (kcal/kg)	2861.3	2875.10	2837.30	2866.60	2845.20

T0= poultry droppings unfermented

Kcal=kilocalorie

Kg=kilogram

ME= Metabolizable energy

T1= poultry droppings fermented for 24 hours

T2= poultry droppings fermented for 48 hours

T3= poultry droppings fermented for 72 hours

T4= poultry droppings fermented for 96 hours

**Table 4.2: Microbial Level of the Various Fermented Poultry Droppings** 

Sample	Bacterial cfu/g	Fungi cfu/g	
T0	$1.87 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$	3.22± 0.13 <sup>a</sup>	
T1	$2.50 \pm 0.10^{b}$	$1.05 \pm 0.05^{c}$	
T2	$2.90\pm 0.05^{a}$	$1.15 \pm 0.05^{\circ}$	
Т3	$2.90 \pm 0.10^{b}$	$1.00 \pm 0.00^{c}$	
T4	$2.50\pm0.05^b$	$1.35\pm0.05^b$	

a,b,c Means on the same column with the same superscript sample are not significantly different (P>0.05)

All results obtained were diluted to x10<sup>6</sup>

T0 = poultry droppings unfermented

T1= poultry droppings fermented for 24 hours

T2= poultry droppings fermented for 48 hours

T3= poultry droppings fermented for 72 hours

T4= poultry droppings fermented for 96 hours

## 4.1.3 Minerals and vitamin contents of fermented poultry droppings

The minerals and vitamin contents of fermented poultry droppings are shown in Table 4.3. The Sodium (Na) content of the samples shows no significant difference (P< 0.05) when compared to each other. While for magnesium (Mg) and calcium (Ca) content of the samples show T0 to be significantly different (P<0.05) when compared to the rest samples with sample T4 having the lowest value (0.69 mg/100g) for Mg and sample T3 (1.06 mg/100g) for calcium (Ca). This trend was also observed for Vitamin A and C, with no significant difference (P<0.05) observed between T0, T3 and T4 when compared to each other respectively.

## **4.1.4** Proximate composition of experimental diets

Table 4.4 shows the proximate composition of experimental diets. Diet T1 containing no poultry droppings is the control, while diets T2-T5 contained poultry droppings fermented for 24, 48, 72 and 96 hours respectively. The results showed that dry matter values ranged from 90.60 to 92.00 %, crude protein values were between 20.30 (T%) to 21.70 % (T1), crude fibre ranged from 04.31 to 05.50 % (T3), ether extracts were between 05.89 to 08.848 %, ash values varied from 06.32 to 08.14 %, while calculated nitrogen free extract values ranged from 50.40 to 54.11 % across the five dietary treatments. With the increase in the length fermentation period the crude protein content increases.

Table 4.3: Minerals and Vitamin Content of Fermented Poultry Droppings in mg/100g

Sample	Na	Mg	Ca	Vit A	Vit C
ТО	1.83 ± 0.02 <sup>a</sup>	$1.00 \pm 0.02^{a}$	$1.62 \pm 0.13^{a}$	$0.52 \pm 0.13^{a}$	$1.47 \pm 0.13^{a}$
T1	$1.33 \pm 0.00^{a}$	$0.97 \pm 0.01^{a}$	$1.29 \pm 0.00^{a}$	$0.35 \pm 0.00^{c}$	$1.21 \pm 0.00^{b}$
T2	$1.43 \pm 0.02^{a}$	$0.92 \pm 0.00^{b}$	$1.20\pm0.00^{ab}$	$0.62 \pm 0.01^{a}$	$1.01 \pm 0.00^{c}$
Т3	$1.41 \pm 0.01^{a}$	$0.71 \pm 0.00^{c}$	$1.06 \pm 0.00^{c}$	$0.43 \pm 0.01^{c}$	$1.11 \pm 0.01^{c}$
T4	$1.41 \pm 0.00^{a}$	$0.69 \pm 0.01^d$	$1.21 \pm 0.10^{b}$	$0.34 \pm 0.001^{\circ}$	$1.10 \pm 0.01^{c}$

a,b,c,d Means on the same column with different superscripts are significantly different (P<0.05).

T0 = poultry droppings unfermented

T1= poultry droppings fermented for 24 hours

T2= poultry droppings fermented for 48 hours

T3= poultry droppings fermented for 72 hours

T4= poultry droppings fermented for 96 hours

**Table 4.4: Proximate Composition and Calculated Energy Values of the Experimental Diets** 

Parameters	T1	T2	Т3	T4	T5
DM	91.80	92.00	90.80	90.60	91.60
СР	21.70	20.25	20.25	21.05	20.53
CF	04.86	04.31	05.50	04.93	05.11
EE	06.84	05.89	06.33	06.08	06.22
ASH	07.28	07.44	06.32	08.14	07.49
NFE	51.12	54.11	52.40	50.40	52.48
ME (Kcal/kg)	3144.62	3121.58	3096.87	3033.82	3092.49

Key

T0 = diet without fermented poultry droppings (control)

T2= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 24 hours

T3= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 48 hours

T4= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 72 hours

T5= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 96 hours

DM=dry matter

CP= crude protein

EE= ether extracts

CF= crude fibre

NFE=nitrogen free extract

ME= Metabolizable Energy

## 4.1.5 Growth performance of broiler chickens fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings

Table 4.5 shows the growth performance of broiler chickens fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings. The average initial body weight (AIBW) ranged between 38.42 g (T3) to 38.44 (T1, T2 and T5) with no significant (P>0.05) differences, average feed intake (AFI) ranged between 3043.30 g (T3) to 3298. 30 g (T2) with no significant (P>0.05) differences, while mortality rate (MRT) ranged between 10.00 % (T1) to 03.33 % (T4 and T5) without any significant differences (P>0.05).

However, there were significant (P<0.05) differences in the values obtained for average final body weight (AFBW), average body weight gain (ABWG) and feed conversion ratio (FCR). Broilers fed a diet containing FPD for 96 hours had the highest average final body weight (1735.50 g), this was followed by those fed a diet containing FPD for 72 hours (1685.50 g), while the lowest value was recorded on broiler birds fed the control diet. (1603.10 g).

The highest average body weight gain (ABWG) was recorded in broiler birds fed diets containing FPD for 96 hours (1697.10 g) (T6) which was statistically similar to that of broiler birds fed diet containing poultry droppings fermented for 72 hours (1647.00 g), and the least average body weight gain (1564.70 g), was obtained in broiler chickens fed the control diet. Broiler birds fed with a diet containing FPD for 48 and 96 hours had the best feed conversion ratio (1.90), which was similar to the efficiency of the broiler birds fed a diet containing poultry droppings fermented for 72 hours (01.94). Broiler chickens fed a diet containing FPD for 24 hours had a feed conversion ratio (2.00).

**Table 4.5: Growth Performance of Broiler Chickens Fed Diets Containing Fermented Poultry Droppings** 

Parameters	T1	<b>T2</b>	Т3	<b>T4</b>	T5	SEM	P-value
AIBW (g/bird)	38.44	38.44	38.42	38.43	38.44	00.01	0.79
AFBW (g/bird)	1603.10 <sup>c</sup>	1658.60 <sup>bc</sup>	1641.40 <sup>bc</sup>	1685.50 <sup>ab</sup>	1735.50 <sup>a</sup>	14.72	0.02
ABWG (g/bird)	1564.70 <sup>c</sup>	1620.10 <sup>bc</sup>	1602.90 <sup>bc</sup>	1647.00 <sup>ab</sup>	1697.10 <sup>a</sup>	14.72	0.02
ADWG (g/bird)	27.94 <sup>c</sup>	28.93 <sup>bc</sup>	28.62 <sup>bc</sup>	29.41 <sup>ab</sup>	30.30 <sup>a</sup>	00.26	0.02
AFI (g/bird)	3111.63	3298.30	3943.97	3193.90	3217.57	36.61	0.23
FCR	01.99 <sup>ab</sup>	02.04 <sup>b</sup>	01.90 <sup>a</sup>	01.94 <sup>ab</sup>	01.90 <sup>a</sup>	00.02	0.05
MRT (%)	10.00	06.67	06.67	03.33	03.33	01.31	0.51
Cost/kg feed	290.21 <sup>a</sup>	279.21 <sup>b</sup>	279.19 <sup>b</sup>	279.10 <sup>b</sup>	277.71 <sup>b</sup>	01.24	0.01
Cost/kg WT gain	578.22 <sup>a</sup>	568.43 <sup>ab</sup>	530.20°	541.23 <sup>bc</sup>	526.27°	06.53	0.01

a, b, c: Means with different superscripts in the same row differ significantly (P<0.05)

AIBW= average initial body weight

ADWG= average daily weight gain

ABWG= average body weight gain

AFBW= average final body weight

AFI= average feed intake

FCR= feed conversion ratio

MRT= mortality rate

SEM= standard error of mean

T0 = diet without fermented poultry droppings (control)

T2= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 24 hours

T3= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 48 hours

T4= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 72 hours

T5= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 96 hours

<sup>%=</sup>Percentage

## 4.1.6 Nutrient digestibility of diets containing fermented poultry droppings fed to broiler chickens

Table 4.6 shows the result of the apparent nutrient digestibility of broiler chickens fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings. Dry matter digestibility values ranged from 81.06 (T5) to 82.72 % (T3) with no significant (P>0.05) differences, crude protein digestibility values were between 82.40 (T5) to 85.35 % (T1) with no significant differences (P>0.05), crude fibre digestibility ranged from 24.48 (T2) to 46.56 % (T4) with no significant differences (P>0.05), ash digestibility values varied from 26.32 (T3) to 44.06 % (T4) with no significant (P>0.05) differences and calculated nitrogen free extract values ranged from 87.67 (T2 and T3) to 90.62 % (T5) respectively.

However, there were significant (P<0.05) differences in the values obtained for ether extract. Ether extract digestibility was significantly (P<0.05) higher (93.91 %) in broiler birds fed with diets containing FPD for 96 hours, this was closely followed by those fed with diets FPD for 72 hours (93.82 %), and the least ether extract digestibility value was recorded on broiler birds fed the control diet (89.16 %).

## **4.1.7** Carcass characteristics of broiler chickens fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings

The results of the carcass characteristics of broiler chickens fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings are presented in Table 4.7. From the results, it was observed that the experimental diets had no significant influence (P>0.05) on cut-up parts of economic importance (back, breast, thigh, drumstick and wing). However, there were significant differences (P<0.05) in live weight, slaughtered weight, de-feathered weight, dressing weight and dressing percentage. Broiler birds fed with diets containing FPD for 96 hours had the highest values for live weight (1691.10 g), slaughtered weight (1644.20 g), de-

feathered weight (1520.50 g), dressed weight (1115.50 g) and dressing percentage (65.97 %), and the least value for the live weight (1630.60 g), slaughtered weight (1583.20 g), defeathered weight (1434.00 g), dressed weight (1043.50 g) and dressing percentage (64.08 %), was recorded on broiler birds fed the control diets.

## 4.1.8 Internal organs of broiler birds fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings

Table 4.8 shows the internal organs of broiler birds fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings. The results showed that there were no significant differences (P>0.05), in the values obtained for gizzard, intestinal weight, heart, liver, lungs, abdominal fat, crop, gall bladder, and proventriculus across the five dietary treatments as expressed in percentage of dressed weight, broiler birds fed with poultry droppings fermented for 96 hours had the highest value for intestine weight (8.35 %) and crop (1.25 %), while those fed diets containing FPD for 72 hours had the highest value for gizzard (2.97 %), liver (2.33 %), abdominal fat (1.83 %), gall bladder (0.23 %), and proventriculus (0.87 %), while those fed control diet (T1) and FPD based diet fermented for 48 hours (T3) had the highest heart value (1.08 %) and lungs (0.69 %) respectively.

## 4.1.9 Organoleptic properties of broiler chickens fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings

The results of the organoleptic properties of broiler chickens fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings are presented in Table 4.9. From the results, it was observed that the experimental diet had no significant influence (P>0.05) on the colour, appearance flavour and tenderness of the broiler chicken meat. However, there were significant differences (P<0.05) in juiciness, aroma and overall acceptability of the meat samples tasted. The highest values for juiciness were observed on broiler birds fed diets containing FPD for 72

hours (7.00) (T4,) and the lowest value was recorded by broiler birds fed diets containing FPD for 42 hours (6.20). Broiler birds fed with diets containing FPD for 24 hours had the highest aroma value (7.10) while broiler birds fed with diets containing FPD for 48 hours had the lowest aroma value (5.80). Broiler birds fed with diets containing poultry droppings fermented for 96 hours had the best overall acceptability (7.70), this was followed by broiler groups fed with diets T1 and T4 respectively while the low overall acceptability value was recorded on broiler birds fed the control diet (6.50).

# 4.1.10 Economics of broiler chickens fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings

Table 4.10 shows the cost- of broiler chickens fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings benefit ratio of broiler chickens fed diets containing FPD. The results showed that there were significant (P<0.05) differences in the total feed intake, cost of feed intake, feed cost per kilogram, feed conversion ratios and feed cost per weight gain. The cost per kilogram tends to decrease as the levels of FPD increase, with T1 recording the highest feed cost per kilogram (₹290.21), which decreases progressively with a significant difference (P<0.05). The cost of feed consumed by the birds followed a similar pattern with a significant difference (P<0.05) with T1 recording the highest cost of feed intake (₹904.71) while the least values were obtained in T4 (₹891.41) respectively.

**Table 4.6: Apparent Nutrient Digestibility of Broiler Chickens Fed Diets Containing Fermented Poultry Droppings** 

Parameters	T1	T2	Т3	T4	T5	SEM	P-value
DM	81.63	80.23	82.72	81.20	81.06	00.77	0.94
СР	85.35	83.05	83.40	84.38	82.40	00.75	0.84
CF	44.26	24.48	42.16	46.56	29.65	04.06	0.38
ASH	33.92	33.71	26.32	44.06	33.73	03.10	0.61
EE	89.16 <sup>b</sup>	92.07 <sup>ab</sup>	92.69 <sup>ab</sup>	93.82 <sup>a</sup>	93.91 <sup>a</sup>	00.66	0.05
NFE	87.93	87.66	88.67	87.34	90.62	00.55	0.39
TDN	71.82 <sup>b</sup>	70.23 <sup>b</sup>	72.23 <sup>a</sup>	72.95 <sup>a</sup>	71.40 <sup>b</sup>	0.32	0.001

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a, b</sup>: Means with different superscripts in the same row differ significantly (P<0.05)

T1 = diet without fermented poultry droppings (control)

T2= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 24 hours

T3= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 48 hours

T4= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 72 hours

T5= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 96 hours

<sup>%=</sup>Percentage

DM=dry matter

CP= crude protein

CF= crude fibre

EE= ether extract

NFE=nitrogen free extract

SEM= standard error of mean

**Table 4.7: Carcass Characteristics of Broiler Birds Fed Diets Containing Fermented Poultry Droppings** 

Parameters	T1	<b>T2</b>	Т3	<b>T4</b>	T5	SEM	P-value
Live wt (g)	1630.60 <sup>b</sup>	1649.50 <sup>ab</sup>	1666.30 <sup>ab</sup>	1679.50 <sup>a</sup>	1691.10 <sup>a</sup>	08.40	0.05
Slaughtered wt (g)	1583.20 <sup>b</sup>	1608.50 <sup>ab</sup>	1625.00 <sup>ab</sup>	1638.50 <sup>ab</sup>	1644.20 <sup>a</sup>	08.95	0.05
Defeathered wt (g)	1434.00 <sup>b</sup>	1460.50 <sup>ab</sup>	1478.50 <sup>ab</sup>	1496.50 <sup>ab</sup>	1520.50 <sup>a</sup>	11.31	0.05
Dressed wt (g)	1043.50 <sup>b</sup>	1057.00 <sup>ab</sup>	1093.50 <sup>ab</sup>	1092.50 <sup>a</sup>	1115.50 <sup>a</sup>	10.12	0.05
Dressing %	64.01	64.08	65.64	65.04	65.97	00.37	0.38
Cut up parts (% dres	ssed weight	)					
Back	11.92	12.64	12.48	12.31	12.10	00.30	0.97
Breast	22.47	22.85	22.13	22.35	22.18	00.17	0.81
Thigh	14.04	13.91	14.22	13.24	13.62	00.17	0.50
Drumstick	11.11	11.21	10.97	11.59	11.42	00.15	0.79
Wing	12.40	13.14	12.62	12.51	12.46	00.21	0.89

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a, b</sup>: Means with different superscripts in the same row differ significantly (P<0.05)

%= percentage

Wt= weight

g= gramme

T1 = diet without fermented poultry droppings (control)

T2= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 24 hours

T3= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 48 hours

T4= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 72 hours

T5= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 96 hours

SEM= standard error of mean

**Table 4.8: Internal Organs of Broiler Birds Fed Diets Containing Fermented Poultry Droppings** 

Parameters	T1	T2	T3	<b>T4</b>	T5	SEM	P-V
(% of dressed weight)							
Gizzard	2.39	2.22	2.52	2.97	2.24	0.11	0.15
Intestinal weight	5.80	6.19	6.68	6.72	8.35	0.55	0.76
Heart	1.08	0.94	0.69	0.91	0.85	0.10	0.86
Liver	1.53	2.04	1.92	2.33	1.61	0.17	0.66
Lungs	0.53	0.62	0.69	0.64	0.58	0.03	0.45
Abdominal fat	1.77	1.42	1.46	2.37	1.83	0.30	0.93
Crop	0.33	0.71	0.32	0.59	1.25	0.13	0.08
Gall bladder	0.19	0.18	0.14	0.23	0.22	0.02	0.47
Proventriculus	0.72	0.80	0.64	0.87	0.76	0.03	0.30

T1 = diet without fermented poultry droppings (control)

T2= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 24 hours

T3= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 48 hours

T4= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 72 hours

T5= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 96 hours

SEM= standard error of mean

P-V=P value

<sup>%=</sup> percentage

**Table 4.9: Organoleptic Properties of Broiler Chickens Fed Diets Containing Fermented Poultry Droppings** 

Parameters	T1	<b>T2</b>	Т3	<b>T4</b>	<b>T5</b>	SEM	P-value
Colour	5.80	5.90	6.40	6.40	5.80	0.11	0.19
Juiciness	6.30 <sup>b</sup>	6.70 <sup>ab</sup>	6.20 <sup>b</sup>	$7.00^{a}$	6.50 <sup>ab</sup>	0.10	0.05
Appearance	6.30	5.20	5.90	6.80	6.60	0.13	0.25
Flavour	6.20	6.80	6.50	6.60	6.90	0.13	0.49
Aroma	6.20 <sup>ab</sup>	$7.10^{a}$	5.80 <sup>b</sup>	6.30 <sup>ab</sup>	6.50 <sup>ab</sup>	0.15	0.05
Tenderness	6.70	6.60	6.60	6.60	6.70	0.12	0.10
Overall acceptability	6.50 <sup>b</sup>	7.00 <sup>ab</sup>	6.60 <sup>b</sup>	7.00 <sup>ab</sup>	7.70 <sup>a</sup>	0.12	0.01

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a, b</sup>: Means with different superscripts in the same row differ significantly (P<0.05)

T1 = diet without fermented poultry droppings (control)

T2= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 24 hours

T3= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 48 hours

T4= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 72 hours

T5= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 96 hours

SEM= standard error of mean

**Table 4.10: Cost Analysis of Broiler Chickens Fed Diets Containing Fermented Poultry Droppings** 

Parameters	T1	<b>T2</b>	Т3	<b>T4</b>	Т5	SEM	P-value
TWG (g/bird)	1564.70°	1620.10 <sup>bc</sup>	1602.90 <sup>bc</sup>	1647.00 <sup>ab</sup>	1697.10 <sup>a</sup>	14.72	0.02
TFI (g/bird)	3111.63	3298.30	3943.97	3193.90	3217.57	36.61	0.23
CFC (₹)	904.77 <sup>ab</sup>	920.92ª	849.84 <sup>b</sup>	891.41 <sup>ab</sup>	893.40 <sup>ab</sup>	09.91	0.05
Cost/kg feed (₦)	290.21 <sup>a</sup>	279.21 <sup>b</sup>	279.19 <sup>b</sup>	279.10 <sup>b</sup>	277.71 <sup>b</sup>	01.24	0.01
FCR	01.99 <sup>ab</sup>	02.04 <sup>b</sup>	01.90 <sup>a</sup>	01.94 <sup>ab</sup>	01.90 <sup>a</sup>	00.02	0.05
Cost/kg WTG (₦)	578.22ª	568.43 <sup>ab</sup>	530.20 <sup>c</sup>	541.23 <sup>bc</sup>	526.27°	06.53	0.01

Key

<sup>a, b, c</sup>: Means with different superscripts in the same row differ significantly (P<0.05)

T1 = diet without fermented poultry droppings (control)

T2= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 24 hours

T3= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 48 hours

T4= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 72 hours

T5= diet containing 5 % poultry droppings fermented for 96 hours

SEM= standard error of mean

TWG= total weight gain

TFI= total feed intake

CFC= cost of feed consumed

FCR= feed conversion ratio

kg= kilogramme

g= gramme

WTG= weight gain

### 4.2 Discussion

## 4.2.1 Proximate composition of fermented poultry droppings

The result of the proximate composition of fermented poultry droppings showed high dry matter of 93.67 to 94.67 %. This is an indication that the fermented poultry droppings were properly dried. Similar dry matter of 90.30 % was reported by Usman et al. (2019), for sundried poultry droppings. Crude protein (21.34 %), ether extract (2.61 %), and crude fibre (16.09 %), values reported for sundried poultry droppings reported by Usman et al. (2019), were also similar to those observed in this study. However, the nitrogen free extract (21.51 %) value reported by the author was smaller and the ash (28.83 %) value was higher compared to those observed in this study. Variations obtained in the values of nitrogen free extract and ash could be attributed to the sources of the poultry dropping. Dropping from the layer may have higher ash content than broilers and caged may have lower ash content compared to dropping from litter birds because of the litter materials. Also the ratio of the faeces excreta to the litter. The proximate composition values of dry matter (58.80 %), ash (34.90 %), crude protein (16.80 %), ether extract (1.90 %), crude fibre (14.90 %) and nitrogen free extract (26.50 %) reported by Komolafe and Sonaiya. (2014), for broiler litters are not in line with the proximate composition value observed in this study. Variation may be due to fermentation and the higher moisture content of their broiler litter droppings.

## **4.2.2** Proximate composition of the experimental diets

The proximate composition of the experimental diet showed that crude protein values were between 20.30 to 21.70 % across the five dietary treatments. These ranges were in agreement with the 20 to 22 % and 22 to 24 % recommended by Akinmutimi *et al.* (2018) as crude protein requirements for broilers at both starter and finisher phases.

### 4.2.3 Microbial loads

There is no doubt that raw materials may contain pathogenic organisms. However adequate processes render the waste free of pathogens or with a much reduced profile of organisms capable of causing disease (Komolafe and Sonaiya, 2014). A collective collection of bacteria and fungi pathogens was carried out in these studies. The microbial load of the various samples shows different counts as the fermentation period proceeds. A microbial count is carried out in order to estimate the level of their presence or contamination. The bacteria/fungi count of the various samples shows (T0) to have the lowest count while T2 appear to have the highest count with a reduction in the bacteria load as the fermentation time increases. The increase in the count at T2 could be attributed to the organism observing the exponential phase (period of rapid growth) (Pepper *et al.*, 2015). This result is in agreement with the work of Josephine Nambi (1987) who reported a reduction in the microbial load of sundried poultry droppings. A similar report was made by Komolafe and Sonaiya (2014) and Adesehinwa *et al.* (2010) on bacteria (cfu/g) of 2.8 x10<sup>6</sup> (cfu/g) and a lower fungi (cfu/g) of 1.1 x 10<sup>2</sup> (cfu/g) in caged litters respectively.

## 4.2.4 Growth performance of broiler chickens fed fermented poultry droppings

As shown in Table 4.3, the observed significant (P<0.05) increase in body weight gain of broiler chickens fed with diets containing fermented poultry droppings may be due to the presence of fermentation enzymes that helps in making positive impacts on the gut health and growth performance (Alshelmani, *et al.*, 2017; Zhang *et al.*, 2016). It is feasible that at various fermentation periods of poultry droppings, these fermentation enzymes were able to create a harmonious gut environment suitable for the release and assimilation of digestive nutrients necessary to enhance growth. Feed intake of the control group was lower

compared to those fed FPD-based diets. A possible reason for differences observed in the average feed intake of broiler birds fed with diets containing fermented poultry droppings over the control group may be due to the fact that fermentation enzyme speeds up the flow of the digesta in the digestive system of broilers (Sundu, 2009). It is not difficult to justify this finding because the digestive tract on heavier broilers is bigger and thus could accommodate more digester (Bamidele, 2022). The result of these findings agrees with that of Obeidat et al. (2011), who reported that increasing broiler litter levels in the diet did not reduce feed intake. The feed conversion ratio was significant (P<0.05) better in broiler chickens fed with diets containing poultry droppings fermented for 48, 72 and 96 hours over the control groups. The results are in line with the findings of Uchewa and Onu (2012), who noticed a better feed conversion ratio on broiler birds fed fermented commercial diets over other groups when they evaluated the effect of feeding wet and fermented feed on the performance of broiler chick. The mortality of broiler chicken fed diets containing FPD showed no significant difference among the treatment groups. The mortality per cent of different experimental birds was not affected significantly by treatment (fermented poultry droppings). The non-significant effect of fermented poultry droppings on mortality rate is an indication that fermented poultry droppings employed in this study are not detrimental to the health of the experimental birds. The health benefits associated with fermented foods are often attributed to the bioactive peptides that are synthesized in the microbial degradation of proteins by the bacteria involved in fermentation (Walther and Sieber, 2011).

## 4.2.5 Apparent nutrient digestibility of broiler birds fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings

Apparent nutrient digestibility of dry matter, crude protein, crude fibre, ash, and nitrogen free extract were not significantly (P>0.05) affected by dietary treatments. Significant (P<0.05) differences observed in ether extract digestibility with broiler birds fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings having significantly (P<0.05) higher values over the control groups be due to the fermentation processes that help in breaking down nutrients in poultry droppings making it easier to digest than the unfermented counterpart (control). Better digestibility recorded among broiler birds fed with diets containing fermented poultry droppings may be due to the fact that fermentation increases the digestibility of proteins and carbohydrates, and the bioavailability of vitamins and minerals (Hwang *et al.*, 2017). Fermentation has also been proven to enhance the nutrient digestibility of organic matter, fibre and calcium (Canibe and Jensen, 2012), and the palatability of feedstuff (Shahowna *et al.*, 2013).

# **4.2.6** Carcass characteristics of broiler birds fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings

Carcass and cut-up parts showed the same trend just as the growth performance results. Birds fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings had significantly (P<0.05) higher live weights, slaughtered weight, de-feathered weight, dressed weights and dressing percentage than those fed the control diet. This may be due to the presence of beneficial microbes that help in degrading poultry droppings into protein with increased nutritive value that can easily be utilized by the birds, which will in turn improve broiler chicken growth (Liu *et al.*, 2023). However, there were no significant (P>0.05) differences in drumsticks weight percentage, breast weight percentage, back weight percentage, thigh

weight percentage and other cut-up parts. It can be said that fermentation of poultry droppings favours breast meat, drumstick, thigh and back which are the choosy parts of broiler chickens. The significant (P<0.05) increase observed in the carcass characteristics of the broiler chickens fed fermented poultry droppings-based diets in the current study might be a result of the fact that fermentation may have effectively degraded poultry dropping into a product that provides a better absorption and digestibility of some nutrients such as vitamins and minerals making poultry droppings more digestible to the broiler chickens (Liu et al., 2023). This might have promoted a more efficient utilization of poultry droppings by broiler chickens for better carcass yield. According to Powell et al. (2014), the nutritional regimen can stimulate the proliferation and differentiation of satellite cells and may increase some cut yields. The results of these findings are consistence with those of Mohammad et al. (2018), who reported that increasing broiler litter levels in the diets of layers increases crude protein digestibility. Also, Negesse et al. (2007), reported that crude protein digestibility was influenced by increasing broilers litter level in the diet. However, on ether extract digestibility the findings of Mohammad et al. (2018), negate the findings of this research, they reported no significant (P>0.05) differences. Variation between both results may be due to the fermentation process employed in this study.

# **4.2.7** Organoleptic properties of broiler birds fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings

Consumers' acceptability of meat products was based on organoleptic (sensory) qualities such as taste, juiciness, colour and aroma (Schivazappa and Virgili, 2020). Consumers' first physical assessment of meat is based on its appearance. This assessment depends on how attractive or otherwise the colour of the meat appears on sighting (Wideman *et al.*, 2016). The type of feed given to broiler chickens during the rearing period has been suggested to

contribute to the appearance of the meat from such animals which eventually influences consumer's preference for the product (Kim *et al.*, 2014). The quality of free amino acid present in animal feed has been suggested to contribute greatly to the flavour and taste of meat from animals (Ma *et al.*, 2019). The impressive organoleptic properties observed on broiler birds fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings from this study could be attributed to the presence of free amino acids and their derivatives in the fermented poultry droppings as a result of fermentation (Ma *et al.*, 2019).

### 4.2.8 Economics of broiler chickens fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings

These results showed that fermented poultry droppings could be included in broilers' diets up to 5 % (weight for weight) in gross feed composition. Beyond this level, a continuous reduction in the price of feed per kilogram diet will be obtained. A significant reduction (P<0.05) in feed cost per weight gain was observed in broiler chickens fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings when compared with the control and feed price per kilogram reduces as the fermentation period increases. Also, the cost per kilogram weight gain was observed to be lower in broiler chickens fed diets containing fermented poultry droppings over those fed with conventional feed ingredients (control). The variation may be due to the cheaper nature of unconventional feed because most unconventional feed is cheaper and available due to lack of competition. The result of these findings is in line with that of Elemam *et al.* (2019), who reported that cow performance and economic efficiency were improved by consuming diets containing broiler litter. Mohammad *et al.* (2018), also reported that increasing broiler litter levels in the diets of Qizil fattening lambs decreased production costs.

### **CHAPTER FIVE**

### 5.0 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

### **5.1 Conclusion**

Based on the results obtained on the use of the supernatant decanted solution for fermentation of poultry droppings from this study, it is concluded that:

Feeding of differently timely fermented poultry droppings at 5% (weight for weight) substitution in broiler diets improved broiler chicken's performance such as average feed intake, average body weight gain, feed conversion ratio and average final body weight gain when fermented for 72 and 96 hours respectively.

Similarly, the inclusion of differently processed fermented poultry droppings at 5% (weight for weight) substitution in broiler diets improved the digestibility of crude protein, crude fibre, ether extracts, nitrogen free extracts and ash with better nutrient availability with significant difference (P<0.05) on the extract and nutrient digestibility.

The crude protein level increases with an increase in the duration of fermentation. Different time duration of fermenting poultry droppings in broiler diets reduced the cost of feed per kilogram weight which translated into reduced feed cost per weight gain ( $\frac{N}{kg}$ ).

## **5.2 Recommendations**

Based on the above conclusions, the following are recommended:

poultry droppings fermented for 72 (T4) to 96 (T5) hours could be used at a 5 % inclusion (weight for weight) level for conventional protein feeding ingredients in

broiler chicken production without adverse effects on growth performance, apparent nutrient digestibility, carcass characteristics and cost-benefit ratio.

Further work should be carried out on the effect of feeding fermented droppings obtained from other classes of animal (cattle, sheep and goat) to assess their production and economic benefits.

Further investigation on the effect of fermented poultry droppings on other animals for economic and healthy meat should be carried out.

Increasing the level of inclusion and extending the fermentation period should also be carried out.

### **5.3** Contribution To Knowledge

The research gave an insight on the effect of fermentation time on the performance of broiler chickens fed a diet containing fermented poultry droppings. The results obtained from the study showed that broiler birds fed fermented droppings at 72 and 96 hours had a better growth performance (1685.50 and 1735.50 g) and dressing weight of 1092.5 and 1115.50 g respectively of broiler chicken when compared with the control diet (1043.50 g). The research has broadened the scope of improving the nutritional content of feed for broilers through fermentation and as well as by reducing the cost of feeding in broiler production. The cost of feed consumed significantly reduced from N904.77 in the control (T1) to N891.41 and N893.40 in T4 and T5 respectively.

Additionally, the cost per kilogramme of feed was also reduced from \(\frac{\textbf{N}}{2}\)290.21 for the control (T1) to \(\frac{\textbf{N}}{2}\)279.10 for T4 and \(\frac{\textbf{N}}{2}\)277.71 for T5. The inclusion of fermented poultry droppings was found to be a cheaper potential source of alternative feed for poultry.

#### REFERENCES

- Abdul-Kalil, H.P.S, Siti-Alwani, M., & Mohd-Omar A.K. (2006). Chemical composition, anatomy, lignin distribution and cell wall structure of Malaysian plant waste fibers. *BioResources*, 1(2), 220-232.
- Abdulmojeed, Y., Ayoade, J.A. & Dahiru, Y.M. (2010). Effect of genotype and population density on growth performance, carcass characteristics and cost-benefits of broiler chickens in North central Nigeria. *Tropical Animal Health Production*, 42, 719-727.
- Adejimi, O.O., Hamzat, R A., Raji, A .M. & Owosibo, A.O. (2011). Performance nutrient digestibility and carcass characteristics of broilers fed cocoa pod husks based diets. *Nigerian Journal of Animal Science*, 13, 61-68.
- Adeoye, G.O., Sridhar, M.K.C., & Mohammed, O. E. (1994). Poultry waste management for crop production. *Nigerian Experience Waste Management and Research*, 12(2), 165-172.
- Aderolu, A.Z., lyayi., A. E. & Onilude, A.A. (2007). Performance, organ relative weight, serum and heamatology parameters in broiler finisher fed bio-graded brewers dried grain. *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition*, 6, 204-208.
- Adesehinwa, A.O.K., Obi, O.O., Makanjoula, B.A., Adebayo, A.O. & Durotoye, A.S. (2010). Utilization of sun –dried on farm generated poultry litter as a resource for growing finishing pigs. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 9(19), 2821 -2825.
- Adewumi, A. A, Adewumi, I.K. & Olaleye, V.F. (2011). Livestock waste manure, fish health solutions. *African Journals of Environmental Science and Technology*, 5 (3), 14-154.
- Aduku, A. O. (1992). Practical Livestock Feed Production in the tropics Asekomes and Co Publishers, Samaru, Zaria. Pp 44 49.
- Aduku, A. O. (1993) Tropical feedstuff Analysis. Pluto publishers. Zaria, 28.
- Aduku, A.O. (2005). Tropical feedstuff analysis table. Department of Animal Science, Faculty of Agriculture, Ahmadu Bello University Samaru Zaria, Nigeria.
- Afolayan, M. O. & Afolayan, M. (2008). Nigerian oriented poultry feed formulation software requirement. *Journal of Applied Sciences Research*, 4 (11), 1596 -1602.
- Agbede, S.O., Ajaya, K., & Aletor, V.A. (2002). Influence of Roxazyme supplementation on the utilization of sorghum dust-based diets for broiler production. *Nigerian Society of Animal Production Conference*, March 17<sup>th</sup> -21<sup>st</sup>. Federal University of Technology, Akure 105-108.

- Ajayi F.T, Omotoso S.O & Dauda T.O. (2016). Performance and nutrient digestibility of west African Dwarf goats fed curneob poultry droppings silage. *The Pacific Journal of Science and Technology*, 17, 278-287.
- Akinmutimi, A., Daniel, O. & Onabanjo, R. (2018). Determination of crude protein requirement of broiler chickens placed on straight/single diet. *Journal of Animal Sciences*, 96 (3), 291-296.
- Alabi, O.J. & Aruna .M. R. (2005). Technical efficiency of family poultry production in Niger Delta, Nigeria. *Journal of Central European Agriculture*, 6(4), 531-538.
- Alam. M.S., M. J. Khan, M.A. Akber & M. Kamruzzaman (2008). Broiler litter and layer manure in the diet of growing bull calves. *Bangladesh Veterinary*, 25, 62-67. DOI: 10.3329/bvet.v25i2.4619
- Alshelmani, M. I., Loh, T. C., Foo, H. L., Sazili, A. Q. & Lau, W. H. (2017). Effect of solid state fermentation on nutrient content and ileal amino acids digestibility of palm kernel cake in broiler chickens. *Indian Journal of Animal Sciences*, 87, 1135–1140.
- Amaefule, K.U. & Iraonya, C.O. (2005). Replacement of soya beans meal and maize offal with Bambara groundnut offal in broiler diet. *Nigerian Agricultural Journal*, 35, 133-142.
- Amanullah M.M, S. Sekar, & P. Muthukrishhma (2010) Prospect and potential of poultry manure. *Asian Journal of Plant Science*, 9 (4), 172.
- Amine-Khodja, A., C. Richard, B. Lavedrine, G. Guyot & O. Trubetskaya (2006). Water-soluble fractions of composts for the photo degradation of organic pollutants in solar light. *Environmental Chemistry Letter*, 3, 173-177. DOI: 10.1007/s10311-005-0028-8
- Amon, B., V. Kryvoruchko, T. Amon & S. Zechmeister-Boltenstern, (2006). Methane, nitrous oxide and ammonia emissions during storage and after application of dairy cattle slurry and influence of slurry treatment. *Agricultural Ecosystem Environment*, 112, 153-162. DOI,10.1016/j.agee.2005.08.030
- Ani A.O & Omeje, O. D. (2007). Effect of supplementation with Enzyme on growth performance of broiler chicks fed diets containing raw Bambara nut (*Voandzeia subterranean* L.) waste. *Proceeding of the 32<sup>nd</sup> Annual Conference, Nigeria Society of Animal Production* (NSAP), 18<sup>nd</sup> -21<sup>st</sup> March, 2007. University of Calabar, Nigeria, 278-281.
- A.O.A.C. (2000). Association of official Analytical Chemists. Official methods of Analysis. (17<sup>th</sup> Ed). A Publication of the Association of official Analytical chemists, Washington, D.C. Pp 52-157.
- Arbor, A. (2009). Broiler Nutrition Supplement. Aviagen Incorporated Cummings

- Research Park 5015 Bradford Drive Huntsville, AL 35805 USA.
- Asabe, (2009). Standards. American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers. 1st Edition. Saint Joseph, MI. USA., ISBN-10, 87551187.
- Atsu, D.W. (2002). Contributory role of Animal Production in National Development. *Proceeding of the 7<sup>nd</sup>Annual Conference of Animal Science Association of Nigeria* (ASAN), University of Agriculture, Abeokuta Nigeria, 16<sup>th</sup> -19<sup>th</sup> September, 2002. Pp 16 18.
- Ayanwale, B.A. (2006) An evaluation of hydrolyzed feather meal as a protein sources in rabbits diets. *Research Journal's Biological Sciences*, 1(1), 32-35.
- Babatunde, G.M. (1980). Role of Nigerian poultry industry in proteins; bridging the animal protein gaps. Inaugural lecture, University of Ibadan, Ibadan, Nigeria.
- Bagley, C. P. Evans, R.R., & Burdine, W.B., (1996). Broiler litter as a fertilizer or livestock feed. *Journal Production Agriculture*, 9, 342–46.
- Bamidele, R. O. (2022). Performance and cost benefits of broiler chickens fed diets containing enzyme treated and untreated broiler white feather meal. MTech Thesis, Federal University of Technology, Minna.
- Banrie, (2013). Economic evaluation of feed per unit of gain, Kansas State University swine production conference.
- Banson, P.M., Muthusany, G. & Kondo, E. (2015). The import substituted poultry industry evidence from Ghana. *International Journal Agriculture*, 5, 166-175
- Barbera, & Sonia (2006). Meat cooking shrinkage: Measurement of a new meat quality parameters, *Meat Science* 73(3), 467-74.
- Bello, A.A & Tsado D.N. (2013). Feed intake and nutrient digestibility of growing Yankassa rams fed sorghum stover supplemented with graded levels of dried poultry droppings base diet. *Asian Journal of Science*, 7, 56-63.
- Benali, M. & T. Kudra, (2002). Thermal dewatering of diluted organic suspensions: Process mechanism and drying kinetics. *Dry Tecogy International Journal*, 20, 935-951. DOI: 10.1081/DRT-120003770.
- Benjamin, S. M. (2019). Broiler Chicken manure: A fertility resources for Nebraska.
- Bernhart, M. & Fasina, O.O. (2009). Moisture effect on the storage, handling and flow properties of poultry litter. Waste Manage. 29, 1392-1398. PMID: 18990556
- Berry, E.D. & Miller, D.N. (2005). Cattle feedlot soil moisture and manure content. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 34, 656-663. DOI: 10.2134/jeq2005.0656

- Bolan, N.S, Szogi, A.A., Chusarati, T., Seshadri, B., Rolbrock, M.J., & Paneerselvam, P. (2010). Uses and management of poultry litter. *World's Poultry Science Journal*, 66, 673-698.
- Bowker, B., & Zhuang, H. (2015). Relationship between water-holding capacity and protein denaturation in broiler breast meat. *Poultry Science*, 94(7), 1657-1664.
- Brunton, E. W. (2012). Animal waste management an industry perspective. *American Society of Agricultural*, ISSN 2151-0040; DOI:10.13031/ISSN.2151-0032.
- Callaghan, F.J.D., Wase, A. J. Thayanithy, K, & Foster C. F. (1999). Co-digestion of waste organic solids: Batch Studies. *Bioresource Technology*, 67 (2), 117-122.
- Canibe, N. & Jensen, B. B. (2012). Fermented liquid feed—Microbial and nutritional aspects and impact on enteric diseases in pigs. *Journal of Animal Feed Science and Technology* 173 (1–2), 17–40.
- Castañeda, F.E.A. & Monrroy A.V.J. (2010). Métodos de procesamiento de sub product sagríco las paraele varsu valor nutricional. Centro de ganadería, Colegio de posgraduados. Chapingo, México. ISBN 978-607-715-083.
- Ceotto, E. (2005). The issues of energy and carbon cycle: new perspectives for assessing the environmental impact of animal waste utilization. *Bioresource Technology*, 96, 191–196.
- Chaynoweth, P. D. & Isaacson, R. (1987). Anaerobic Digestion of Biomass. New York, N.Y., Elsevier Applied Science.
- Choct, M. (2009). Managing gut health through Nutrition. British Poultry Science, 50, 9-15
- Coligado, C., Genciana, Y. & Dela Cruz, A. (1982). Recycling of dried poultry waste in the diets of growing pullets and layers. In: Animal production and health in the tropics, Jainudeen,
- Couch, J. R. (2007), Evaluation of poultry manure as feed ingredient. *Worlds Poultry Science Journal*, 30 (4), 279-289
- Cunningham, F.E, & Lia, L. (1974). Influence of feeding dehydrated poultry waste on broiler, growth and meat flavor and composition. Dairy and poultry science department, Kansas State, Manhaltenkamsas 66506.
- Defang, H. F., Terguia, J. Awah- Nduku, A. Kenfack, F.N & Metuge, F. (2008). Performance and carcass characteristics of broiler fed boiled cowpea (*Vigna unguigulata* L. walp) and or black common bean (*Phasceolus vulgaris*) meal diets. *African Journal of Biological Technology*, 1351-1356
- Demirci, G. G., &. Demirer. G. N (2004). Effect of initial COD concentration, nutrient addition, temperature, and microbial acclimation on anaerobic treatability of boiler

- and cattle manure. Bioresource Technology, 93(2), 109-117
- Duncan, D.B. (1955). Multiple Range and Multiple F Test. Biometric, 11, 1-42
- Edens, F. W., Parkhurst, C. R. & Havenstein, C. R. (2007). Allzyme Phytase reduces phosphorus and nitrogen excretion by caged broilers and by broilers in conventional housing. Courtesy of Alltech Inc.
- Elemam, M.B, Fadelelseed, A.M. & Salih A. M. (2019). Growth performance, digestibility, N-balance, and rumen fermentation of lambs fed different levels of deep-stack broiler litter. *International Research Journal of Animal and Veterinary Science*, 4, 9–16.
- Elliott, H.A, & Collins, N.E, (1982). Factors affecting ammonia release in broiler house. *American Society of Agricultural Engineers*, 25(2), 0413-33545.
- El-Masry, G., Barbin, D.G. & Sun, D.W. (2012). Meat quality evaluation by hyper pectoral imaging technique. An overview. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Technology*, 52(8), 689-711.
- Esonu, B. O., Iheukwumere, F.C., Iwuji, N., Akamu, T.C., Onwudike, O.C. & Eguakum, A. (2003). Evaluation of *Microdesmis puberula* leaf meal as feed ingredient in broiler starter diets. *Nigerian Journal of Animal Production*, 30, 3-8
- FAO (2010). Animal Production and Health No 50, page 163-184. ISBN 978-92-5-107452-7.
- FAO (2023). Food and Agricultural Organization Statistical yearbook, World food and Agriculture.
- Fares, F., Albalkhi, A., Dec, J., Bruns, M.A. & Bollag, J.M. (2005). Physicochemical characteristics of animal and municipal wastes decomposed in arid soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 34, 1392-1403. PMID: 15998862
- FMSN, (2015). Federal Metrological Station, Minna International Airport Weather Report.
- Ghaly, A. E, & MacDonald, K. N. (2012). Drying of poultry manure for use as animal feed. *American Journal of Agricultural and Biological Sciences*, 7, 239-254
- Ghaly, A.E. & Alhahab, M. (2013). Drying poultry manure for pollution potential reduction and production of organic fertilizer. *American Journal of Animal Science*, 9, 88-102
- Gómez, A.R. (2006). Harinas de origen animal. En: Shimada AS, Rodríguez F G, Cuaron JA (Ed.). Engorda de ganadobovino en corral. Consultores en Producción Animal, S. C. México. ISBN 6071701228.
- Grunert, (2004). Consumer perceptions of meat quality and implications for product

- development in meat sector. A review. *Meat Science*, 66 (2), 259-272.
- Gutiérrez, F, Rojas A, Dormond H, Poore H, Wing & Ching R. (2013). Características nutricionales fermentativas de mez clasensiladas de desechos de piña y avícolas. *Agron Costarricense*, 27(1), 79-89. ISSN 2215-3608.
- Harris, L.E. & Crampton, E.W. (1995). Effect of Processing on the Nutritional value of Feeds.
- Hassan, A.A., Nwanta, J.A., Njoga, E.O., Maiangwa, M.G & Mohammed, A. (2011) Economic analysis of broiler production on farm formulated and commercial feeds: A case study of Igabi local government area of Kaduna State. *Nigerian Veterinary Journals*, 32 (2), 154-156
- Hwang, J., Kim, J. C., Moon, H., Yang, J. Y. & Kim, M. (2017). Determination of sodium contents in traditional fermented foods in Korea. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 56:110–4.doi:10.1016/j.jfca.2016.11.013
- Ikani, E.I. & Adesehinwa, A.O.K. (2000). Promoting non-conventional feed stuffs in livestock feeding. The need for extension strategy. In: Animal production in the new millennium: Challenges and options. *Book of proceedings of 25th Annual Conference of the Nigeria in Society for Animal Production*, 19th to 23rd March, 2000, Umudike, Abia State. Nigeria. pp 366
- INEGI-Mexico (2010). Instituto Nacional de Estadística, Geografía e Informática. Anuario Estadístico porentidad federativa, México. ISBN-13, 978-0309317023
- Jacob B.R., Soong, L., Seier, W.H & Pope, W.H. (1971). Dehydrated poultry waste in poultry rations. Department of Poultry Science, the University of British Columbia, Van Cour 8, British Columbia.
- John, D. (2008). Meeting the Nutrient Requirement of Broiler Breeders. *Article 9 Canadian Poultry Industry Council* pp. 10
- Jones, F. T., Wineland, M. J., Parsons, J. T., & Hagler, W.M. (1996). Degradation of aflatoxin by poultry litter. *Poultry Science*, 75 (1), 52-58.
- Josephine, N. (1987). The Nutritional evaluation of dried Poultry waste as a feed ingredient for broilers. Thesis submitted in fulfillment for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Animal Production of the University of Nairobi.
- Keener, K. M., R. Shook, K. Anderson, & C. R. Parrish. (2005). Characterization of poultry manure for potential co- combustion with coal in an electricity generation plant. ASAE Paper No.026058. St. Joseph, Mich.: ASAE
- Kekeocha, C.C. (1985). *Poultry Production Handbook*. (1<sup>st</sup> Edition). Pwb Pfizer Corp and Macmillan, 92-110.

- Kelleher, B. P., LeahyJ. J, Henihan A. M., & O'Dwyer T. F. (2002). Advances in poultry litter disposal technology. *Bioresource Technology*, 83(1), 27-36.
- Kim M., Kent S., Rankins, D., Ruffin, B.G., Norwood, J., Dyke, V. & Mccasky, T.A. (2020). Feeding broiler litter to beef cattle. Alabama cooperative extension.
- Kim, Y. J., Lee, G. D. & Choi, I. H. (2014). Effect of dietary supplementation of red ginseng marc and alpha-tocopherol on the growth performance and meat quality of broiler chickens. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 94, 1816-1821.
- Kirk, C. (2018). Nutrient Requirement of Poultry, Department of Animal Science, University of California. *NSD Veterinary manual. www.msdvetmanual.com*.
- Komolafe, A. A. & Sonaiya, E. B. (2014). Simple processing method for recycling poultry waste into animal feed ingredient. *International Journal of Applied Agricultural and Apicultural Research*, 10 (1&2), 21-32
- Lay, D.C. Jr., R.M. Fulton, P.Y. Hester, D.M. Karcher & J.B. Kjaer. (2011). Hen welfare in different housing systems. *Poultry Science*, 90, 278-294. DOI: 10.3382/ps.2010-00962
- Liu, S., Du, M., Tu, Y., Chun, W., Lu, G., Lu, Z., Wang, T. & Shan, T. (2023). Fermented mixed feed alters growth performance, carcass, meat quality and muscle fatty acid and amino acid profiled in finishing pigs. *Animal Nutrition*, 12, 87-95
- Lopez, M., T. A. Costello, and L. A. Roe (2005). Combustion of poultry litter for space heating. ASAE Paper No. 058019. St. Joseph, Mich.: ASAE
- Lu, J., Sanchez, S., Hofacre, C., Maure, J.J, Harman, B.U & Lee, M.G (2003). Evaluation of broiler litter with reference to the microbial composition as assessed by using 16s rRW and functional gene markers. *Apply Environmental Microbiology*, 69, 901-908.
- Ma, X., Yu, M., Liu, Z., Deung, D., Cui, Y., Tian, Z. & Wang, G. (2019). Effect of amino acids and their derivatives on meat quality of finishing pigs. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 57 (2), 404-412.
- Malik, A.A., Kudu, Y.S & Mohammed, A.J. (2020). Growth performance, nutrients digestibility and economy of feed conversion of broiler chicken fed diets containing cowpea milling waste and plantain peal mixture. *Nigeria Journal of Animal Production*, 47 (6), 82-90.
- Martens, W. & R. Bohm, (2009). Overview of the ability of different treatment methods for liquid and solid manure to inactivate pathogens. *Bioresource Technology*, 100, 5374-5378. DOI: 10.1016/j.Biotechology2009.01.014
- Martin, E.A. & Gabertan, A.E. (1985). Performance of broilers fed dried poultry waste with

- sodium bentonite. Philippine Journal Veterinary Animal. Science, 11 (3-4), 30.
- Maud, J. K. (1990). Processing and preservation of tropical and subtropical foods, 244-250
- Mbajiorgu, C. A. (2010). Effect of dietary energy and protein ratio level on growth and productivity of indigenous Venda chickens raised in closed conferment from day old up to 13 weeks. PhD Thesis, Department of Animal Production Faculty of Science, University of Limpopo, South Africa
- McAllister, T. A., Beauchemin, K. A., Hao, X., McGinn, S. M. & Robinson, P.H. (2011). Greenhouse gases in animal agriculture—Finding a balance between food production and emissions. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 166 (167), 1–6
- McMullen, J., O. Fasina, W. Wood, Y. Feng, & G. Mills (2004). Physical characteristics of pellets from poultry litter. ASAE Paper No. 046005. St. Joseph, Mich.: ASAE.
- Mmerole, F. (2009). Evaluation of dietary inclusion of sweet potato (*Ipomea batatas*).leaf meal (SPLM) with and without enzymes treatment in broiler diets. *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition*, 8(6), 841-844.
- Mohamed, M., Sekar, S. & Muthukrishhma, P. (2010). Prospect and potential of poultry manure, *Asian Journal of Plant Science*, 9, 172-185.
- Mohammad, R. R., Younes, A. A., Rasoul P. & Masoud, A. (2018). Effects of feeding with broiler litter in pellet-form diet on Qizil fattening lambs' performance, nutrient digestibility, blood metabolites and husbandry economics. *Journal of Veterinary Research*, 9(3), 245–251.
- Mohapatra, S.K., Pradhan, K.P., Sahu, P.K. & Kumar, M.R. (2014). The performance measure of GS-DG MOSFET: an impact of metal gate work function. Advances in natural sciences: *Nanoscience and Nanotechnology*, 5 (2), 025002.
- Muazzez C., Yilmaz, G., Figen, K., Bayraktar, O.H. & Selim, M. (2016). Comparison of carcass characteristics, meat quality and blood parameters of slow and fast grown female broiler chickens raised in organic or conventional production system. *Australasia Journal of Animal Science*, 29 (7), 987-997
- Mukhtar, S., Annamalai K, & Porter S. C. (2002). Co-firing of coal and broiler litter (BL) for power generation: BL fuel quality and characteristics. ASAE Paper No. 024189. St. Joseph, Mich.:ASAE.
- Nahm, K. (2003). Evaluation of nitrogen contain in poultry manure, *Worlds Poultry Science Journal*, 59.
- NRC, National Research Council (1983). Animal waste; In underutilized resources as animal feedstuffs, committee on animal nutrition, Board of Agriculture National academic press, Washington D C, 121-177.

- NRC, National Research Council, (1994). Nutrient Requirements of Poultry: Ninth Revised Edition, 1994. Washington DC: The National Academies Press <a href="https://doi.org/10.17226/2114">https://doi.org/10.17226/2114</a>.
- Negesse, T., Patra, A. K. & Dawson, L. J. (2007). Performance of Spanish and Boer × Spanish doelings consuming diets with different levels of broiler litter. *Journal of Small Ruminant*, 69, 187–197.
- Nemovhola, Z. (2001). The effect of different diets on production performance and meat quality of indigenous chickens Master of Agriculture Management (Animal Production) Dissertation, University of Limpopo, South Africa.
- Obeidat, B. S., Awawdeh, M. S. & Abdullah, A. Y. (2011). Effect of feeding broiler litter on performance of Awassi lambs fed finishing diets. *Journal of Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 165, 15–22.
- Ockerman, H.W. & Hanen, C.L. (2005). Industrialización de sub productos de origen animal. Editorial Acribia.Zaragoza; España.123-234. ISBN, 9788420007519
- Olomu, J. M. (1995). Monogastric Animal Nutrition Principles and Practice. St. Jackson Publication, Benin City, Nigeria. 19-118
- Oluyemi, J.A. & Robert (2002). Performance and Economic production of Broiler chickens fed different dietary energy sources. *Asian Journal of Poultry Science*, 9, 41-49.
- Onu, P.N. & Madubuke, F.N. (2006). Effect of raw and cooked wild cocoyam (*Caladium buolor*) on the performance of broiler chick. *Agriculture Tropical Etsubtropica*, 39, 268-272.
- Onyimonyi, A.E & Onukwufor, E. (2009). An assessment of pawpaw leaf meal as protein ingredient for finishing broiler. *International Journal for Poultry Science*, 8(10), 995 998.
- Overcash, M.R., Humenlik, F.J. & Miner, R.J. (1983). *Livestock Waste Management*. Vol. 1, CRC Press, Boca Raton, F.L
- Owen, O.J., Alikwe, P.C.N. & Okidim, I.A. (2013). The Economics Potential of Compounding Rabbit Diets with Grade Levels of *Moringaoleifera* Leaf Meal. *Journal of Environmental Issues and Agriculture in Developing Countries*, 5 (2), 34-40.
- Pauzenga, U. (1985). Feeding Parent stock. Zootech International, 22, 22-24.
- Pepper, I.L., Gerbe, C.P. & Geritry, T.Y. (2015). Environmental microbiology, (third edition). *Elsevier Incorporated*, 1-6
- Pickard, J. T. (2006). Matching minerals today's testing environment. *Pig Progress*, 22 (7),

- Powell, D. J., Mcfarland, D.C., Cowieson, A.J., Muuir, W.I. & Velleman, S.G. (2014). The effect of nutritional status on myogenic gene expression of satellite cells derived from different muscle type 1. *International Journal of Poultry Sciences*, 93, 2278-2288.
- Preusch, P.J. Alder, P. R Sikora I.J & Tworkoski, T.J (2002) Nitrogen and phosphorus availability in composed and un-composed poultry manure, *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 31, 2151-2057
- Przemysław, S. Malgorzata .K. Zbigniew, .P. Agnieszka, .U. Halina, .P.K, Lukasz ,N. & Hanna, P. (2020). Pathogen reduction potential in anaerobic digestion of organic fraction of published online 2020 Jan 9.doi; 10:3390/molecules 25020275 PMID:31936589
- Reardon, P, Wimberly, J., & Avens, J. (2001). Demonstration of small modular bio-power system using poultry litter. DOESBIR phase -1. Littleson, colo, community power corporation.
- Reddy, P.B, Reddy T.J & Reddy Y.R. (2012). Growth and nutrient utilization in IDS fed Exponder Extruded complete feed pellets containing Red grain (*Cajanus cajan*) straw. *Asian –Australian Journal of Animal Science*, 25, 1721-1725
- Rinehart, K.E, Snetsinger D. C, Rayland W. C & Zimmerman R.A, (1973). Feeding value of dehydrated poultry waste, *Poultry Science*, 52, 2078
- Rothrock, M.J., Cook, J.R., Lovanh, K.L., Warren, N. & Sistani, K., (2008). Development of a quantitative real time PCR assay to target a group of ammonia producing bacteria found in poultry litter. *Poultry Science*, 87, 1058-1067.
- Ruurd, T.Z. (2021). Used of fermentation co-product in pet food and animal feeds. *Journal of Animal Science*, 99 (3), 64-65.
- Saleh, H.M., Elwan, K.M., El-fouly, H.A., Ibrahim, I.I., Salama, A.M. & Elashry, M.A. (2002). The use of poultry waste as a dietary supplement for ruminants.
- Schivazappa, C. & Virgili, R. (2020). Impact of salt levels on the sensory profiles and consumer acceptance of Italian dry-cured ham. *Journal of Science, Food and Agriculture*, 100 (8), 3370-3377.
- Shahowna, E., Mahala, A., Mokhtar, A., Amasaib, E. & Attaelmnan, B. (2013). Evaluation of nutritive value of sugar cane bagasse fermented with poultry litter as animal feed. *African Journal of Food Sciences and Technology*, 4, 106-109.
- Sofowora, A. (1993) Phytochemical Screening of medicinal Plants and traditional Medicine in Africa (Edition). Spectrum Books Ltd, Nigeria 150-156

- SPFG (Sustainable Poultry Farming Group). (1994). Standardization measures of nutrient content and density of poultry manures.
- Spiehs, M. & Goyal, S. (2007). Best management practices for pathogens control in manure management systems, University of Minnesoa. Extension, St. Paul MN, USA. M1211.
- Srivastava, B., Niwas, R., Singh, D. P. & Benson (2013). Impact of herbal based diets on production efficiency of broiler. *An international Quarterly Journal of Life Science, The Biological Scan*, 8 (1), 119-122.
- Steel & Torrie J.H. (1980). Principles and procedures of statistic. A biochemical approach 2<sup>nd</sup>edition, McGrew Hill, New York, 20-90
- Stern, N.J & Rebach, M.C, (2003). Enumeration of *Compilobactar* SPD.ID. Broiler feces and in corresponding processes care cashes, *Journal Food Protection*, 66, 1557-1563.
- Sundu, B. (2009). Gastrointestinal response and passage time of pelleted diets in the digestive tract of broilers. *International Journal of Poultry Science*, 7, 511-515
- Uchewa, E. N. & Onu, P. N. (2012). The effect of feed wetting and fermentation on the performance of broiler chick. *Journal of Biotechnology in Animal Husbandry*, 28 (3), 433-439
- Ugwu, S.O.C & Onyimonyi, A.E. (2008). Carcass, organ and organoleptic characteristics of spent slayer fed Bambara nut sievates. *International Journal of Poultry Science*, 7(1), 81-84.
- Uko, J.O. & Kamalu, T.N. (2003). Studies on feeding value of Neem seed kernel (*Azadirachta indica* A. juss) in poultry meat production. PhD, thesis Department of Veterinary physiology/pharmacology. University of Nigeria. Nigeria.
- USEPA, United States Environmental Protection Agency. (2000). National Water Quality Inventory: Report to Congress. EPA841-R-95-005. December, 1995.
- Usman, S. O., Ogbu, K. U., Oguche, J. U., Momoh, T. B. & Omale, S. (2019). Utilization of poultry waste as feed and supplementary feed for fish growth. *Journal of Applied Sciences and Environmental Management*, 23 (4), 627-631.
- Van Ryssen, J. B. J. (2015). Poultry litter as a feedstuff for ruminants: A South African scene, Department of Animal and wildlife sciences, University of Pretoria. *Animal Science*, Vol 2. SA-ANIM SCI 2001, 2, 1-8 Available online: <a href="http://www.sasas.co.za/Popular/Popular.html">http://www.sasas.co.za/Popular/Popular.html</a>.
- Wang, Z. S., & Goetsch, A.L. (1998). Intake and digestion by Holstein steers consuming diets based on litter harvested after different numbers of broiler growing periods or with molasses addition before deep-stacking. *Journal Animal Science*, 76 (3), 880-

- Walther, B., & Sieber R. (2011). Bioactive proteins and peptides in foods. *International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research*, 81 (2), 181. doi:10.1024/0300-9831/000054.
- Ward, I.M. (2003). Environmental policies for sustainable poultry industry in Sussex county Delaware, Delaware University of Delaware, Department of Bioresources Engineering.
- Wideman, N. E., O'Bryan, C. & Crandall, P. G. (2016). Factors affecting poultry meat color and consumer preferences- A review. *World's Poultry Science Journal*, 1 (2), 1-14
- Wilson, M. (2005). Production focus in balancing genetics, welfare and economics in broilers production Vol (1):1 *Publication of cobb-Ventress, Inc.* available online at: <a href="https://www.thepoultrysite.com/articles/balancing-genetics-welfare-and-economics-in-broiler-production">https://www.thepoultrysite.com/articles/balancing-genetics-welfare-and-economics-in-broiler-production</a>
- Yahaya, S.K. (2014). Performance and Blood Biochemical profile of wild indigenous Guinean Fowl (*Numidia meleagritisgalecta*) fed differently processed Negro coffee (*Seama occidentalis*) seed meal under intensive production, PhD Thesis submitted to the Postgraduate School, Federal University of Technology Minna.
- Zhang, G., Zhang, F., Ru, W. & Han, J. (2010). Solid-state fermentation of corn meal with the *Ascomycetes marchella esculenta* for degrading starch and upgrading nutritional value. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 26, 15-20.
- Zhang, J., Zhu, J., Sun, J., Li, Y., Wang, P., Jiang, R. & Rahman, M. R. T. (2016). Effect of fermented feed on intestinal morphology, immune status, carcass and growth performance of Emei Black chickens. *Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology Journal*, 1, 240.
- Zhang, W. & Lau, A. (2007). Reducing ammonia emission from poultry manure composting via struvite formation. *Journal of Chemical Technology*, 82, 598-602. DOI: 10.1002/jctb.1701

## **APPENDICES**

## APPENDIX A

## LIVESTOCK BY-PRODUCTS AND USES

<b>Animal Species</b>	By-products	Use		
Commercial flocks	Faeces, viscera, feathers, bones	manure, meal, poultry manure		
Bovines	Faeces, milk	Bovine manure, fertilizers, serums		
Ovine	Faeces	Ovine manure, fertilizers		
Rabbits	Faeces	Rabbit manure, fertilizers		
Fishes	Bones, skin	Meal		

Source: INEGI-Mexico (2010)

APPENDIX B

NUTRIENT COMPOSITION OF DIVERSE POULTRY MANURES

Particulars	Deep litter manure	Broiler house	Battery cage manure
Total N (%)	1.70-2.20	2.40-3.60	3.63-5.30
Total $P_2O_5(\%)$	1.41-1.81	2.56-2.80	1.54-2.90
Total K <sub>2</sub> O(%)	0.93-1.30	1.40-2/31	2.5-2.90
Fe (ppm)	930-1380	970-1370	790-1450
Zn (ppm)	90-308	160-315	80-172
Cu (ppm)	24-42	27-47	80-172
Mn (ppm)	210-380	190-350	370-590
Ca (%)	0.90-1.10	0.86-1.11	0.80-1.02
Mg (%)	0.45-0.68	0.42-0.65	0.40-0.56

Source: Amanullah et al. (2007)